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Headline Statistics

206
Ligthouses
66 Lights over 15 nautical mile 
range
140 Lights less than 15 nautical 
mile range

259
Marine 
Licences 
processed

1614
Local 
Lighthouse 
Inspections

170
Buoys
104 Commercial buoys 
managed by NLB

124
Offshore Oil and Gas 
Structures Inspected

£1.5M Commercial Income 2017/18 including income from cruise liner berthing
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Provision of an efficient 
and effective Marine Aids 

to Navigation service.

Ensure the NLB’s 
governance, organisation, 
security resilience, assets 

and people are fit and 
ready to meet evolving 

requirements and 
demands.

Cooperation with 
Trinity House and Irish 

Lights to deliver Tri-GLA 
initiatives.

Support the economic 
development of Scotland 

and Isle of Man.

Strategic Focus

Maximum exploitation 
of commercial 

opportunities presented 
by NLB’s assets, 

including support to 
other Government 

Departments.
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Our 

Organisational Values

S P I T F I RE
Safety Pride Innovation and 

Flexibility
Teamwork Fairness Integrity REspect

We will do 
everything 
reasonably 
practicable 
to protect 

those we work 
with and the 
environment 
from harm. 

We will take 
pride in what 

we do as 
individuals 

and the 
achievement 

of the 
organisation 
as a whole.

We will look 
beyond the 
obvious and 

embrace 
change 
and the 

opportunities 
it offers. 

We will 
support 

each other 
to succeed 

and develop 
individuals 

to reach 
their full 

potential. 

We will 
treat 

everybody 
fairly.

We will do 
the right 
thing for 
the right 
reasons.

 We will 
treat each 
other with 

respect 
and 

dignity.
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Chairman’s Introduction

Graham Crerar
Chairman

Central to the Northern Lighthouse Board’s (NLB) mission is the provision 
of reliable Aids to Navigation.  This remit, measured against internationally 
agreed standards, has once again been met in full and NLB’s people 
rightly deserve recognition for this achievement.  For an organisation 
that has been successfully delivering a service for over 230 years it would 
be easy to take this success for granted, but in NLB’s case nothing could 
be further from the truth.  The Executive team with the full support and 
encouragement of the Non-Executive Board of Commissioners have taken 
bold steps to ensure that the organisation remains in the best possible 
shape to meet the challenges ahead.   Critical to this was seeking and 
gaining DfT approval during the 2016/17 Corporate Planning procedure 
to undertake a ‘root and branch’ review of the organisation; a process 
that challenged all at NLB to think hard about how we are organised 
and how we operate.   As I anticipated in last year’s report, FY2017/18 
has been a period of considerable transformation as the campaign to 
bring improvement across the organisation has started to crystallise into 
tangible results. 

The detailed list of achievements are documented elsewhere in this report, but in brief the new structure is 
in place and up and running, both Risk and Project Management have been revamped, improvements to the 
working environment have been made, resources are being managed better, the Senior Management team 
have benefitted from leadership development and morale across the whole team is positive. That’s not to 
say there are not still things to be done or further hurdles ahead, but through this programme of change 
NLB is fit, ready and confident to tackle the future.

During the year the Board of Commissioners welcomed two new Non-Executives appointed respectively by 
the Scottish and UK Governments.  Both have brought a new range of skills, experience and strategic insight 
which have already been extremely useful in supporting the Executive’s decision making. With assistance 
from external agencies we have also taken the opportunity to carry out a number of training sessions for 
Non-Executives to ensure governance best practice is understood and followed. 

NLB is a small organisation with around 180 full time employees and much of what it does to protect lives, 
property, the environment, and the vital contribution it makes to the economies of Scotland and the Isle of 
Man is completely invisible to the vast majority.  There is much to celebrate and be immensely proud of and 
I draw your attention to the summary at the front of this report which simply sets out the headline statistics 
and serves as a useful reminder that NLB is much more than Lighthouses.

Graham Crerar

Graham Crerar
Chairman
16 November 2018



Page 6

Chief Executive's Report

Mike Bullock
Chief Executive

The safety of the Northern Lighthouse 
Board’s (NLB) people and the Mariners 
we serve remains my primary focus. 
Once again the NLB team have met and 
exceeded the rigorous International 
standards set by IALA for Aid to 
Navigation (AtoN) availability, providing a 
first class service for those who operate 
in, visit, or transit through, Scottish 
and Manx waters.   The incidence of 
accidents within our own workforce 
remains commendably low. However, 
we fully recognise the risks presented by 
complacency and therefore we continue 
with our drive to maintain vigilance, 
ensure near-misses are reported and 
the right working environment is 
maintained to encourage everyone to 
speak out and challenge.   In addition to 
regular safety briefings, toolbox talks 
prior to commencing work, staff and 
Commissioner participation in the HS&E 
Committee and publication of lessons 
learnt, the Director of Operations and 
I have spent time on the ground with 
frontline staff to hear their views and to 
experience working conditions first hand.  
Building on the achievements of previous 
years, we have tackled a number of 
areas identified for improvement. These 
include, continuation training for the 
evacuation of casualties from lighthouse 
towers including joint exercises with 
HM Coast Guard personnel and Search 
and Rescue (SAR) Helicopters and 
implementation of medical screening. 
The latter will ensure those that work 
in remote places or operate heavy 
equipment ashore are not unknowingly 
exposed to avoidable risk.

As highlighted in last year’s Annual 
Report and Accounts, FY 2017/18 was 
planned to be a year of  considerable 
change as we implemented the endorsed 
recommendations of the Organisational 
Review, supported by EY.  The changes 
made are the most significant for 20 
years when Keepers left the lighthouse 
at Fair Isle South for the final time, as the 
programme of automation concluded.  
Our emphasis has very much been on 
effectiveness and preparing for the 
future making sure the reconfigured 
structure provides the right support for 
our people to deliver their individual 
responsibilities. This in turn allows NLB 
as a whole to fulfil its vital mission For 
the Safety of All.   

The new structure is just part of the 
story. We also need our people to be 
happy, inspired and motivated.    In part 
this is about setting the right terms and 
conditions of employment and we already 
carefully benchmark against the UK and 
Scottish Civil Service to ensure we follow 
best practice.  We have also taken steps 
to improve physical working conditions, 
including recognising the importance of 
welfare facilities for AtoN Technicians and 
commissioning the Stevenson Rooms at 
84 George Street which now provide a 
high quality modern space for meetings, 
conferences or simply getting together 
with colleagues over a coffee.  But it is 
also about setting the right climate for 
people to flourish, enjoy their work and 
ultimately give the best performance 
they can.   Underpinning the change 
programme has been an emphasis on 
clear responsibility and accountability 
for the individual backed up by 
empowerment to get on with the task in 
hand.  Things are still bedding down, but 
the indications are positive and we will 
continue to monitor progress to ensure 
we fulfil the commitment to our people 
set out in NLB’s Values.      

In parallel with the Organisational 
Review, our underpinning methodology 
for Project Management (PM) has been 
updated and rolled out.  In FY 2017/18 all 
but one of the fifteen planned lighthouse 
refurbishments were completed in year, 
a significant improvement over previous 
years.  This success was reflected in a 
‘Substantial’ assessment for PM awarded 
by the Government Internal Audit Agency 
(GIAA).   Over the year we have also 
implemented a new approach to Risk 
Management, introducing risk based 
thinking at all levels of the organisation 
and the mechanism to allow elevation 
of risk to the right level.  This has 
been similarly reviewed by GIAA who 
judged NLB’s management of risk to be 
‘Substantial’ and a benchmark of best 
practice.   

After successive years of underspend, 
in parallel with the development of 
robust Project Management, much 
effort has gone into improving both 
the Corporate Planning process and 
in-year financial management. Following 
on from the commitment made the 
previous year, the Corporate Plan for 
2017/18 clearly set out our undertaking 
not to over-bid, but to only request 

resources we actually required and to 
deliver what was promised.   The Capital 
spend for FY 2017/18 was within £25k 
of the £2.81m allocated.   Excluding pay, 
redundancy costs and pensions, Revenue 
spend was £333K below the allocation 
but this included £300k of Contingency 
which was not required, meaning the true 
underspend was £33K.    Where the plan did 
not deliver as anticipated, was in terms of 
the unexpected release of £1.364m which 
had been allocated to cover a potential 
Section 75 employers debt for the Merchant 
Navy Officers Pension Fund (MNOPF); 
Commercial Surplus which delivered £831k 
over the anticipated target; and £714k 
underspend of pay and pensions caused by 
gapping and delays in recruiting into posts 
created through the Organisational Review.   
Although disappointing, these three factors 
were beyond our control and otherwise we 
delivered as planned.   These circumstances 
have allowed a revision of RPI-X savings and 
if all other factors remain unchanged over 
the remaining years of the 2016-21 period, 
we could achieve an X of -2.33% against our 
original target of -1.73%.

In summary, NLB is in good shape to meet 
the many challenges ahead and of course 
deliver a reliable, efficient and cost-effective 
Aid to Navigation service for the benefit and 
safety of all mariners.  

Mike Bullock
Mike Bullock
Chief Executive
16 November 2018
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Vision Statement
To be a leading maritime organisation that is highly trusted and 
valued by a full spectrum of its Stakeholders

1 2 43

5 6 87

9 10 1211

13 14 1615

Performance Report

photograph by Bryan Kennedy
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          Safety.    The incidence of accidents within NLB’s workforce remains commendably low, however the 
risk presented by over familiarity and complacency is fully recognised.  To tackle this a number of 

measures are in place to maintain the vigilance of our workforce and the contractors who provide services to 
NLB.  Central is setting the right culture to ensure colleagues are able and willing to report near-misses or 
hazards and, regardless of experience or seniority, feel empowered to challenge and question.   To maintain 
awareness all staff participate in general safety briefings, toolbox talks are conducted prior to commencing 
work, staff and Commissioner representatives participate in the HS&E Committee and lessons identified are 
shared.   In addition the Chief Executive and Directors spend time with frontline staff as they go about their 
work to hear their views and to experience first hand working conditions.  Building on the achievements of 
previous years, a number of areas identified for improvement have been progressed including continuation 
training for the evacuation of casualties from lighthouse towers including joint exercises with HM Coast 
Guard personnel and Search and Rescue (SAR) Helicopters and implementation of medical screening to 
ensure those that work in remote places or operate heavy equipment ashore are not unknowingly exposed to 
avoidable risk operational challenges. 

Commissioners have also participated in the evaluation of Health Safety and Environment issues at individual 
lighthouse stations during the Annual Inspection Voyage which has enhanced the Board level understanding 
and appreciation of operational challenges.  

1

Fleet Review.  NLB has been working in partnership with the other 
General Lighthouse Authorities to complete Phase II of the Fleet 

Review. Ahead of the Review’s final outcome great benefit has already been 
realised through an initiative with Trinity House and Irish Lights to develop 
Coordinated Fleet Planning which has led to considerable improvement in the 
coverage of Risk Response Areas for Wrecks and New Dangers.

3

Key Achievements & Events during the Year:

AtoN Availability.  NLB met and exceeded the rigorous International 
standards set by IALA for Aid to Navigation (AtoN) availability.

2
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4 Organisational 
Review.  In Corporate 

Plan 2016/17 NLB set out 
an ambition to appoint 
an external organisation 
to carry out a full 
organisational review.  The 
review was carried out 
by EY which concluded in 
early 2017 setting out a 
series of recommendations 
which were subsequently 
endorsed by the Managing 
Board.  A Programme Board 
was established to oversee 
the implementation process 
during FY2017/18.  The 
new structure is in place 
which reduces the number 
of Directors from 3 to 2, 
brings together Engineering 
and Marine Operations 
into one team and creates 
a streamlined Business 
Services team focussed 
on supporting operational 
delivery.   Finding the right 
people for newly created 
posts has been paramount 
and for the first time 
expertise was brought in 
to provide an ‘assessment 
centre’ approach to 
recruitment.  This practice 
will continue for Senior 
positions.

Leadership Development.  The Chief Executive, 
Directors and Senior Managers have participated in a year 
long bespoke leadership development programme which 

has included personal evaluation, coaching and workshops.

Risk Management.  A new Risk Management Framework has been 
developed and rolled out across the organisation.  The new approach 
introduces risk based thinking at all levels of the organisation, the 

process to allow the identification and recording of risk at departmental 
level and the mechanism to elevate risk to the right level.  This also 
allows the focus of the Quality System to be directed at areas of greatest 
need.   Risk Management has been reviewed by GIAA who judged NLB’s 
management of risk to be ‘Substantial’ and a benchmark of best practice.   

Project Management.  In early 
2016, following the identification of a 

number of concerns, at NLB’s request GIAA 
carried out an audit to examine Project 
methodology.  As anticipated the findings 
highlighted significant concerns and provided 
an assessment of ‘Unsatisfactory’.  Since 
then significant investment has been put into 
rectifying the failings through a thorough 
review of Project Management, including 
the introduction of robust processes and 
effective governance supported by targeted 
training.  In 2017/18 all but one major 
project was delivered in year, the spend was 
within £25k of the planned £2,810k budget 
and a GIAA audit assessed NLB’s Project 
Management to be ‘Substantial’. 

 ISO Standards.  NLB successfully transitioned to 
the new 2015 International Standards Organisation 
(ISO) for Quality Management (ISO 9001) and 

Environmental Management (ISO 14001).   Certificate to 
these standards demonstrates that the organisation is 
fully aligned with international best practice and ensures 
consistency, compliance and continuous improvement 
across all elements of operations.  NLB is also certified for 
Information Security (ISO 27001) and Occupational Health 
& Safety (OHSAS 18001).

6

7

8

9

Dashboard.  To aid the governance of the organisation’s performance 
an initiative was launched to develop a “dashboard” bringing together 

key performance indicators (KPIs) into an easily digestible ‘one stop shop’ 
format.  The initial trial dashboard has been further developed using 
feedback from both Commissioners and the Executive and is now the 
mainstay of the Managing Board’s oversight of NLB’s activity.

5
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Stevenson Rooms. The Stevenson 
Rooms have been in operation since 
June 2017.  In addition to hosting 

NLB meetings, which would have 
otherwise had to be held offsite, the 
facilities have been utilised by maritime 
related organisations bringing in modest 
commercial income. The visitors include 
RNLI, Marine Association for Science and 
Technology in Scotland (MASTS), British 
Tug Owners Association, British Ports 
Association, UK Chamber of Shipping, 
Cruise Scotland, Marine Scotland’s Master 
Mariners and Maritime and Coastguard 
Agency (MCA) who met with Members of 
the Scottish Parliament to discuss fishing 
safety.   The feedback about the facilities 
has been universally positive and more 
significantly the awareness of NLB’s vital 
safety role and important contribution 
to Scotland and the Isle of Man has been 
enhanced.  The facilities also include 
showers and changing rooms, modern 
workshop facilities for Edinburgh based 
AtoN Technicians and for the first time a 
comfortable area where staff can relax 
over a coffee or hold informal discussions.

Mission Statement
To deliver a reliable, efficient and cost-effective Aids to Navigation service for the benefit      

and safety of all Mariners

Management Assurance Return.  As 
an Non Departmental Public Body (NDPB) 

responsible to DfT, NLB is required to complete 
an annual Management Assurance Return 
(MAR) which is the Accounting Officer’s (Chief 
Executive) assessment of the organisation.  The 
approach adopted is for complete honesty and 
transparency when assessing the strengths 
and weaknesses of the organisation.  The MAR 
for FY 2017/18 shows a marked uplift towards 
‘Substantial’ over the previous year, reflecting 
the wholesale improvements made during the 
year.

10 11

Sharepoint.  Significant effort has been 
dedicated to populating and setting to 
work an effective and comprehensive 

document management system.  The adoption 
of the Microsoft Sharepoint system has allowed 
business processes across the organisation 
to be streamlined improving accessibility to 
data and facilitating better collaboration.   This 
has modernised the management of Boards 
and Committees giving members direct 
remote access to papers. In addition  ‘Smart 
forms’ now remove the requirement for 
the circulation of paper previously required 
for booking meeting rooms, declaration of 
interests, entries into the gifts and hospitality 
register, travel requests, special recognition 
awards, staff suggestions, PPE requirements et 
al. 

12

GDPR. In advanced of the 
implementation of the General Data 

Protection Regulation in May 2018 a 
thorough review and cleansing of data 
held by NLB has been conducted, new 
protocols have been introduced and a 
comprehensive series of staff briefings have 
been conducted.  

13

Investment in the future.  Following 
the successful appointment of two Deck 

Rating Apprentices last year, in 2017/18 
two AtoN Technician Apprentices were 
appointed and commenced their training at 
Falkirk College. 

14

Oban Pier Refurbishment.  Extensive 
repairs have been carried out to the 

concrete piles supporting the pier at Oban 
Base and new Cathodic protection has been 
installed to extend the operational life of 
the facility.

15

Commercial Income.  NLB makes best use 
of spare capacity by engaging in third party 

commercial activities.  In addition to traditional 
buoy work there continues to be growth in 
berthing activities in Oban with customers 
including cruise and aquaculture vessels as well 
as accommodating CALMAC ferries overnight 
to allow maintenance to be conducted at 
the Oban ferry terminal.  NLB has continued 
its mutually beneficial relationship with the 
Ministry of Defence, providing vessel support 
through a Memorandum of Agreement. This 
not only ensures full utilisation of vessel 
time but also contributes to best value for 
money for UK plc through intra-governmental 
cooperation. 

16



Our 

Community

Charity Activity
NLB staff have participated in a number of fund raising events including a raffle in aid of the Les Hoey Dream Maker Foundation, a Cream Tea 
held in the Stevenson Rooms to support Action Medical Research and a toy collection for disadvantaged children as part of the Radio Forth 
Cash for Kids initiative.

STEM
Inspiring young people, especially girls, to take up STEM (Science Technology, Engineering and maths) related subjects is high on the UK and 
Scottish Governments’ agendas.  NLB is in a remarkable position to bring STEM to life and through outreach work in the community inspire 
and encourage young people to achieve their aspirational and educational goals.  Our FY2017/18 programme has included talks at primary 
schools, Brownie groups and a number of visits to lighthouse stations.   In addition one of NLB’s engineers, Craig Pake, worked with S3 pupils 
from Inveralmond Community High School in Livingston on a lighthouse project which culminated in students visiting 84 George Street 
to present their plans to an audience of NLB staff.  The project was a huge success and participants received an achievement certificate, 
detailing the project scope which they can include in their School Achievement Record, which in turn can be used when applying for further 
education or employment.

Museum of Scottish Lighthouses
NLB is proud of its strong association with the Museum of Scottish Lighthouses in Fraserburgh, the first museum to be granted Autism 
Friendly status.  NLB staff from Oban helped with the refurbishment of a number of historic buoys as well as providing technical advice.

Doors Open Day
Staff volunteers opened NLB’s Headquarters at 84 George Street, Edinburgh to visitors as part of the Edinburgh Doors Open Day where 
access is given to buildings not normally open to the public.   The response was remarkable with nearly 1,000 visitors over the two days.

Outreach
Presentations on NLB’s work to interested groups ranging from Rotary Clubs, Justices of the Peace, Yacht Clubs, and the University of 
the Third Age (U3A) right through to Staff from across all elements of Transport Scotland are a regular feature.  Of note this year NLB 
collaborated with the National Library of Scotland (NLS) to present to a group of people affected by dementia.  This was both an inspiring and 
humbling experience for the staff involved and we will be doing more work with NLS in the future.  

Public Access
NLB supports local communities by working in partnership to facilitate public access to lighthouse towers.  Lighthouses are literally a beacon 
for tourism and are a major draw for visitors from Mull of Galloway to Sumburgh Head in Shetland.  Eight NLB lighthouses are open to the 
public bringing direct and indirect benefit to the local economy.
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authorities to discharge their responsibilities for 
safety management in UK waters.  This includes 
measures to confirm the powers of the GLAs to 
work outside the 12 nautical mile territorial limit 
and to mark wrecks electronically, and to improve 
their ability to tender for commercial work where 
this can allow the utilisation of surplus capacity. 

The Scotland Act 2016, an act of the Parliament of 
the United Kingdom, sets out amendments to the 
Scotland Act 1998 and devolves further powers to 
Scotland. The amendments to Schedule 8 to the 
Merchant Shipping Act 1995 (Commissioners of 
Northern Lighthouses) contained within the Scotland 
Act 2016 are summarised as follows: 

• Scottish Ministers to appoint a commissioner to 
the NLB Board.

• Commissioners shall send to the Scottish Ministers 
a copy of any accounts that they have been 
required to provide under section 218 of the 
Merchant Shipping Act 1995.

• Scottish Ministers shall lay those accounts before 
the Scottish Parliament.

• Commissioners shall send to Scottish Ministers 
any report made under section 198(4)(b) (reports 
on inspections) of the Merchant Shipping Act 
1995.

• Scottish Ministers shall lay any such report before 
the Scottish Parliament.

Auditors
Comptroller and Auditor 
General
National Audit Office
157-197 Buckingham 
Palace Road
Victoria
London
SW1W 9SP

Bankers
Royal Bank of Scotland 
PLC
36 St Andrew Square
Edinburgh
EH2 2YB

Aims, Objectives and Regulation

The Commissioners of Northern Lighthouses have 
pleasure in presenting their Report and Accounts for 
the year ended 31 March 2018. These Accounts are 
prepared by the Commissioners in respect of their 
function as the General Lighthouse Authority for 
Scotland and adjacent seas and islands and the Isle 
of Man in accordance with a directive made by the 
Department for Transport under the powers of the 
Secretary of State contained in Section 218 of the 
Merchant Shipping Act 1995 and are subsequently 
consolidated to form part of the General Lighthouse 
Fund Accounts which are prepared pursuant to Section 
211(5) of the Merchant Shipping Act 1995.

The GLAs are financed by advances made by the 
DfT from The General Lighthouse Fund (GLF) whose 
principal income is from light dues levied on shipping 
using ports in the United Kingdom and the Republic 
of Ireland. The Fund receives additional income from 
the Republic of Ireland Exchequer and from sundry 
receipts generated by the GLAs from buoy, ship and 
property rental, workshop services and the sale of 
assets.

All three GLAs contained their running cost 
expenditure within levels sanctioned by Ministers in 
2017/18. The level of light dues in the United Kingdom 
is determined by the Secretary of State for Transport 
under Section 205 of the Merchant Shipping Act 1995. 
The Irish Government sets the level of light dues in 
the Republic of Ireland, under the Merchant Shipping 
(Light Dues) Act 1983.

Section 195 of the Merchant Shipping Act 1995, 
and Section 634 of the Merchant Shipping Act 1894 
in respect of the Republic of Ireland, state that: 
Responsibility for the provision, superintendence and 
management of lighthouses, buoys and beacons on 
the coasts and seas around the British Isles is vested 
in the three GLAs: 

• Trinity House in its capacity as a lighthouse 
service (TH)

• Commissioners of Northern Lighthouses (known 
as Northern Lighthouse Board) (NLB)

• Commissioners of Irish Lights (known as Irish 
Lights) (IL)

The Marine Navigation Act passed into law in April 
2013.  The Act introduces new powers and duties 
to improve the ability of harbour and lighthouse 

Office
84 George Street
Edinburgh
EH2 3DA

Solicitors
Anderson Strathern 
LLP
1 Rutland Court
Edinburgh
EH3 8EY

Office and Advisors

Overview
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The GLAs’ future vision of Marine Aids to Navigation 
is contained in the document ‘2030 Navigating 
the Future’ available at http://www.nlb.org.uk/
InformationCentre/Transparency/2030-Navigating-
the-Future/ states that the GLAs’ Marine Aids to 
Navigation Strategy to 2030 is to: 

These accounts have been prepared in accordance 
with the 2017/18 Government Financial Reporting 
Manual (FReM) issued by HM Treasury.  The 
accounting policies contained in the FReM follow 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 
to the extent that it is meaningful and appropriate 
to the public sector.  Where the FReM permits a 
choice of accounting policy, the accounting policy 
which has been judged to be the most appropriate 
to the particular circumstances of the GLF for the 
purpose of giving a true and fair view has been 
selected.  The GLF’s accounting policies have been 
applied consistently in dealing with items considered 
material in relation to the accounts. 

The Fund’s accounts consolidate the General 
Lighthouse Authorities’ (GLAs) accounts; the 
accounts maintained by the Department for 
Transport (DfT) and the light dues collection 
accounts maintained by Trinity House. 

The accounts of the GLAs have been prepared in 
accordance with the accounts direction issued by 
the Secretary of State for Transport 27 February 
2013.

The GLAs have adopted codes of best practice 
for Commissioners and Board Members, which 
are based on the Model Code of Best Practice for 
Public Bodies issued by HM Treasury. The Code is 
underpinned by the Seven Principles of Public Life 
set out by the Committee of Standards in Public Life.

• continue to provide an appropriate mix of 
AtoN for general navigation for all mariners; 

• continue to provide a timely and effective 
response to wrecks, new dangers and AtoN 
failures; 

• continue to undertake superintendence 
and management of all Aids to Navigation 
in accordance with international standards, 
recommendations and guidelines; 

• work with users, partners and stakeholders 
nationally and internationally, to continuously 
improve the safety of marine navigation 
through harmonised international standards, 
recommendations and guidelines; 

• improve reliability, efficiency and cost-
effectiveness while ensuring the safety of 
navigation; 

• introduce new services and infrastructure in 
line with user requirements and technological 
developments, including lights, radio 
navigation, e-Navigation and the maritime 
cloud; 

• keep abreast of technological developments 
and undertake research and development on 
new AtoN technologies; 

• protect and exploit our intellectual property 
where appropriate.
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Performance Analysis

Performance and Progress

The income to the GLF comes mostly from light 
dues, which are charged on commercial shipping 
calling at United Kingdom and Republic of Ireland 
ports.  The Secretary of State for Transport has a 
duty to ensure the effective management of the GLF 
and enable the adequate provision of AtoNs at the 
minimum cost.

The Government remains committed to the present 
system of recovering the GLAs’ costs through light 
dues.

The Government and GLAs have worked together 
to minimise its costs and the real term levels of light 
dues.  The level of light dues per tonne has fallen 
from its historic peak of 43p in 1993 to 37½p from 1 
May 2017 and is some 25% lower in real terms than 
they were 10 years ago.  

In recent years progress towards modernisation 
of the GLAs has been rapid.  All lighthouses were 
automated by 1998 with controls centralised at each 
GLA headquarters and an out of hours monitoring 
service established at Trinity House, Harwich. 
Floating AtoNs have been solarised.  A Differential 
Global Positioning System to enhance the US Global 
Positioning System has been provided since 1998 
permitting the GLAs to close the expensive Decca 
Navigation System in 2000 and in the coming years 
e-Navigation will play an ever increasing role The 
GLAs have focused on reducing costs with major 
investments in both depots and ships.

Given the increasing complexity of navigating 
around the British Isles and other areas of the 
world, the risk of collisions and groundings will 
undoubtedly increase.  The IMO’s response is the 
adoption of e-Navigation which is defined as ‘The 
harmonized collection, integration, exchange, 
presentation and analysis of maritime information 

on-board and ashore by electronic means to enhance 
berth to berth navigation and related services, for 
safety and security at sea and protection of the 
marine environment’.

E-Navigation is intended to bring a fundamental 
change to the concept of operations used for 
maritime navigation.  Its development has been slow 
and only some aspects are being progressed.
The concept is that all charting, communications 
and navigation information will be integrated into 
a coherent presentation on the bridge.  There 
would be a common data-link ship-to-ship and 
ship-to-shore giving a clear and up-to-the-minute 
presentation of vessel traffic disposition.  The 
benefits of e-Navigation in the high-risk areas off the 
coasts of the UK and Ireland are clear.

GNSS is currently the undoubted primary navigation 
system backed up by traditional visual and radar 
navigation.  Due to the vulnerabilities of the signal, 
along with growing mariner and societal reliance, 
and dangers of effectively reverting to traditional 
means in a congested or constrained waterway, the 
IMO accept the need for a backup to GNSS. There 
is no agreement at this stage on what that back up 
should be in the e-Navigation environment.  Until 
a backup is defined there is a clear single point of 
failure. 

This is why the GLAs research an independent, 
dissimilar terrestrial position, navigation and timing 
(PNT) backup.  The GLAs participated in a pan-
European Loran network on a trial basis however 
during 2015 decisions by France and Norway to cease 
transmissions led to the network being degraded and 
made unsuitable for positioning.  The GLAs exited 
from the lease arrangement for the  transmitter 
at Anthorn. The GLAs are now researching in 
international collaboration opportunities to utilise (R) 
Ranging mode from signals of opportunity, enhanced 
Radar Beacons (eRacon) as well as the integrity of 
multi constellation satellite systems as alternatives.

Most of the GLA work to develop e-Navigation is 
carried out by the Research and Radio Navigation 
(R&RNAV) department which is shared resource of 
all three GLAs, based at the Trinity House base in 
Harwich.  
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IMO Safety of Life at Sea (SOLAS) Convention
GLA Responsibilities

•	 ….provide	such	Aids	to	Navigation	as	the	
volume	of	traffic	justifies	and	the	degree	
of risk requires

•	 ….take	into	account	the	international	
recommendations	and	guidelines	

•	 ….arrange	for	information	relating	to	Aids	
to	Navigation	to	be	made	available	to	all	
concerned

Fraud, bribery and whistleblowing 

NLB takes a ‘zero tolerance’ approach in the event 
of any fraud or bribery. Any instances are managed 
through the appropriate policies and reported to the 
Audit and Risk Committee.  

All staff in the Procurement and Finance 
Departments are required to carry out on-line fraud 
awareness training.  Staff also attended counter-
fraud workshops in 2017/18 to gain an improved 
understanding of risk areas.  

During 2017/18 there were a number of identified 
Group Procurement Card transactions which were 
fraudulent and refunded by the card provider.  There 
were no other instances of fraud or bribery identified 
during the period.  

Whistleblowing has remained a priority throughout 
2017/18, and activity has continued to ensure a 
culture of confidence and safe environment to raise 
a concern is preserved.  In addition to the formal 
whistleblowing procedure staff are encouraged to 
raise concerns at various forums.

Going Concern

These accounts have been prepared on a going 
concern basis, as NLB are satisfied that its activities 
are sustainable for the foreseeable future. The 
Statement of Financial Position at 31 March 2018 
shows net assets of £93,279,000 . Advances for 
2018/19, taking into account the amounts required 
to meet the Board’s liabilities falling due in that year, 
have already been included in the GLF forecasts
for that year and DfT have officially sanctioned the 
2018/19 budget in a letter dated 28 January 2018.
 



Sanction                    
£000’s

Actual 
Expenditure  

£000’s

Variance     
£000’s

Running costs 
(including pensions)

17,586 16,372 (1,214)

Redundancy 
costs

0 167 167

Commercial 
Surplus

(320) (1,151) (831)

Expenditure 
on behalf of 
all GLAs

7 3 (4)

Other costs 2,161 2,122 (39)
Merchant 
Navy Officers 
Pension 
Scheme

1,364 0 (1,364)

Capital 
Expenditure

2,810 2,835 25

TOTAL 23,608 20,348 (3,260)

Financial Performance

The operating results for the year, set out in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Net Income (SoCNI) 
(Page 55) shows a surplus of £1.33m for 2017/18 
(surplus £2.81m 2016/17, restated surplus £2.55m 
2016/17). This surplus is due to commercial income 
exceeding targets and pay and pension savings due 
to gapped positions and restructuring.  Operating 
expenditure was within management expectations.  
Consistent with 2016/17, the sanctioned contingency 
of £0.30m was not utilised in 2017/18. Capital 
spend was on target showing continued success of 
project and planning management which helped 
achieve total annual capital expenditure meeting the 
sanctioned goal.  

Including Other Comprehensive Income, the 
Statement of Comprehensive Net Income (SoCNI) 
reports a net surplus for the year of £17.04m 
(2016/17 £4.78m, restated net surplus £4.52m 
2016/17), this takes account of unrealised gains and 
losses on Property Plant and Equipment.  2017/18 
saw a major change in the methodology which set 
out to standardise the valuation process across 
all the GLAs. This exercise was undertaken by the 
Valuation Office Agency (VOA) as part of the five 
year revaluation process to accurately give a true 
and fair representation of the asset value held 
by the Northern Lighthouse Board.  This resulted 
in £16.07m of increase to the non-current asset 
register.  The valuation of the tenders decreased by 
£0.25m in 2017/18 due to the continued depression 
of the global shipping market

Commercial income generation in the year of 
£1.54m (2016/17 £1.48m). The income includes a 
reimbursement of cost from maintenance works 
carried out on behalf of 3rd parties (£0.17m).  Ship 
hire, which accounts for over 50% of the total 
income generated, remained constant at £0.84m

The Net Cashflow from all activities shows a surplus 
of £0.46m. Funds are only drawn down based on the 
profile of cash required for the following period, thus 
liquidity is all handled within the GLF and not within 
the NLB accounts.

Based on the results NLB achieved to 31 March 
2018 if other factors remain unchanged over the 
remaining years of the 2016-21 efficiency period NLB 
could achieve an X of -2.33% an improvement of the 
target of -1.73%.

The Accounting Policies are reviewed each year in 
accordance with IAS8, Accounting Policies. This review 
is carried out at the tri-GLA Accounts Format Working 
Group with reference to the Financial Reporting 
Manual (FReM) and The Accounts Direction, issued 
by the Secretary of State for Transport. No material 
changes were required for 2017/18.

For 2017/18 the Board’s performance against the 
Cash Limits set by the Department for Transport is 
summarised as follows:

Cash Performance
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Expenditure on Tangible and Intangible non-current assets

The actual expenditure calculated against these Cash limits is reconciled with the Accounts, prepared on an 
“accruals” basis, as follows:

Expenditure on property, plant and equipment

2017/18
£000’s

2016/17
£000’s

Buildings 1,680 679
Tenders 278 572
Buoys 0 202
Information Technology 0 182
Plant & Machinery 217 578
Payments on Account & Assets under Construction 660 1,094

2,835 3,307

Cash Controls

The Board relies primarily on advances from the General Lighthouse Fund for its cash requirements and is therefore 
not exposed to significant liquidity risks although it is dependent on the liquidity of the General Lighthouse Fund.

2017/18                       
£000’s

2016/17                       
£000’s

Cash withdrawn from the General Lighthouse Fund 20,717 21,650

Running Costs in current 
and constant prices

2008/09 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

Running Costs £000 * 15,093 14,373 13,794 13,542 13,951 14,108 14,236 14,591 15,810 15,024

Variance % -4.77% -4.03% -1.83% 3.02% 1.13% 0.91% 2.49% 8.35% -4.97%

Running Costs at Constant 
Prices £000

15,093 14,306 13,081 12,258 12,246 12,040 11,912 12,082 12,815 11,739

Variance % -5.21% -8.56% -6.29% -0.10% -1.69% -1.06% 1.43% 6.06% -8.39%

Average RPI 214.8 215.8 226.5 237.3 244.7 251.7 256.7 259.4 265.0 274.9

Annual Change % 2.97% 0.47% 4.96% 4.77% 3.12% 2.86% 1.99% 1.05% 2.16% 3.74%

Major capital spend during the year included the following projects:  Refurbishments of several lighthouses 
including; Rona, Noss Head, Ardnamurchan, Rubh Re and St Abbs.  A major refurbishment of Oban Pier was 
undertaken to extend its life including concrete repair works and the installation of new cathodic protection anodes.

Major capital projects in the Isle of Man were Maughold Head and Douglas Head totaling £121k (2016/17 £145k).

10,000

11,000

12,000

13,000

14,000

15,000

16,000

17,000

2008/09 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

£00
0's

Year

Running Costs on a Cash and Constant Basis

Running Costs £000 Running Costs at Constant Prices £000

*   Under the current RPI-X regime, pensions are included in running costs.  However it is not possible to provide comparable data 
going back to 2008/09.  Therefore pensions are excluded from running costs above.  When 2014/15 is the first year in the table 
above, running costs will be restated.

Running Costs on a Cash and Constant Basis

Page 18



AtoN availability compared to International Association of Marine Aids to Navigation and Lighthouse 
Authorities minima

ATON TYPE 2013/2014 2014/2015 2015/2016 2016/17 2017/18

ACT DIFF ACT DIFF ACT DIFF ACT DIFF ACT DIFF

Category 1 IALA Minimum 99.8%

BUOYS 99.92% 0.12% 99.94% 0.14% 99.87% 0.07% 99.88% 0.08% 99.89% 0.09%
LIGHTS 99.79% -0.01% 99.87% 0.07% 99.85% 0.05% 99.85% 0.05% 99.87% 0.07%
RACONS 99.89% 0.09% 99.95% 0.15% 99.90% 0.10% 99.91% 0.11% 99.91% 0.11%
TOTAL 99.83% 0.03% 99.90% 0.10% 99.88% 0.08% 99.87% 0.07% 99.88% 0.08%

Category 2 IALA Minimum 99.0%

BUOYS 99.92% 0.92% 99.90% 0.90% 99.86% 0.86% 99.89% 0.89% 99.87% 0.87%
LIGHTS 99.78% 0.78% 99.82% 0.82% 99.84% 0.84% 99.85% 0.85% 99.93% 0.93%
TOTAL 99.86% 0.86% 99.87% 0.87% 99.87% 0.87% 99.88% 0.88% 99.90% 0.90%

Category 3 IALA Minimum 97.0%

AIS 99.56% 2.56% 99.68% 2.68% 99.71% 2.71% 99.14% 2.14% 98.41% 1.41%
BUOYS 99.98% 2.98% 99.99% 2.99% 99.99% 2.99% 99.99% 2.99% 99.99% 2.99%

BEACONS 100% 3.00% 100% 3.00% 99.98% 2.98% 99.98% 2.98% 100% 3.00%

TOTAL 99.85% 2.85% 99.88% 2.88% 99.85% 2.85% 99.57% 2.57% 99.24% 2.24%

99.70%

99.75%

99.80%

99.85%

99.90%

99.95%

100.00%

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 IALA
MINIMUM

Category 1

BUOYS LIGHTS RACONS

98.40%

98.60%

98.80%

99.00%

99.20%

99.40%

99.60%

99.80%

100.00%

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 IALA
MINIMUM

Category 2

BUOYS LIGHTS

95.50%
96.00%
96.50%
97.00%
97.50%
98.00%
98.50%
99.00%
99.50%

100.00%
100.50%

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 IALA
MINIMUM

Category 3

AIS BUOYS BEACONS

98.80%

99.00%

99.20%

99.40%

99.60%

99.80%

100.00%

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

Total

Category 1 Category 2 Category 3

AtoN Performance
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Although NLB is exempt from mandatory Sustainability reporting the organisation has put in place 
environmental management policies and procedures in line with best practice.   The protection of the 
environment and sustainable development are key considerations in all aspects of NLB’s decision making.   
Indeed NLB’s mission to provide reliable Aids to Navigation is a major contributor to preventing accidents 
at sea and the consequent damage to the environment through pollution.  NLB’s commitment to adhering 
to progressive environmental management standards is underlined by the organisation’s certification to 
ISO 14001: 2015.    This internationally recognised standard is particularly relevant as the organisation 
seeks to modernise and bring improvement in the way we conduct our operations.   The following are 
tangible examples of this approach:

• NLB is a leader in the use of renewable 
energy for Aids to Navigation through 
the installation of solar-electric power 
systems which have replaced diesel 
generators, not only removing a source 
of carbon emissions and pollutants but 
also the requirement to deliver fuel by 
ship and helicopter.

• Introduction of significantly less power 
hungry LED light sources to replace 
traditional incandescent lamps across 
the Aid to Navigation estate.

• Modernisation and upgrading of NLB’s 
Headquarters at 84 George Street 
including efficient heating systems, 
insulation, double glazing and led light 
technology.

• Introduction of new vehicle fleet encompassing the latest clean Diesel technology.

• Biosecurity protocols to prevent damage to natural habitats.

• Cooperation with Scottish Natural Heritage (SNH) to minimise the effect of NLB’s activities on 
biodiversity.

• Contribution to science and the protection of the sensitive marine environment through support 
to the work of Scottish Association for Marine Science (SAMS), Marine Alliance for Science and 
Technology for Scotland (MASTS) and Marine Scotland.

Mike Bullock

Mike Bullock
Chief Executive

16 November 2018

Sustainability Reporting
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Accountability Report

Northern Lighthouse Board
The NLB are working with their Stakeholders to better understand their needs and expectations.  
These are built into our Strategic and Operational Planning.  A list of acronyms can be found at Annex 2

NLB
STAKEHOLDERS

MAIB SEPA
Marine 

Scotland

Aquaculture 
Industry

SNH
Tourism and 

Heritage

Local 
Lighthouse 
Authorities

Transport 
Scotland IALA

Ship    
Owners

Secretary of 
State Rep

Renewables 
Industry

Isle of Man
Department of
Intrastructure

RYA
Bridge  
Teams

Trinity    
House

Oil and Gas 
Industry

Ministry of 
Defence

Department 
for Transport

MET      
Office

UK 
Hydrographic 

Office
Irish 

Lights

Executive in 2017/2018

Mike Bullock MBE FCILT
Chief Executive

Captain Phillip Day AFNI
Director of Operations

Mairi Rae FCMA CGMA
Director of Business Services
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Membership of the Board

The Commissioners were established as a 
corporate body in 1786. Their incorporation is 
set out in Section 193 of and Schedule 8 to the 
Merchant Shipping Act 1995 as amended by the 
Scotland Act (2016) Part 5 and, is as follows:-

(a)  The Lord Advocate and the Solicitor-General 
for Scotland;

(b)  The Lords Provosts of Edinburgh, Glasgow 
and Aberdeen and the Conveners of 
Highland and of Argyll & Bute Councils;

(c)   The Sheriffs Principal of all the Sheriffdoms 
in Scotland;

(d)   a person nominated by the Lieutenant 
Governor of the Isle of Man and appointed 
by the Secretary of State;

(e)  a person appointed by the Secretary of State 
(in addition to the person nominated under 
paragraph (d);

(f)  a person appointed by the Scottish 
Ministers.

In addition, the Commissioners may elect;

(g)   not more than three other persons;

(h)   the convener of any council whose area 
includes any part of the coast of Scotland.

The ex-officio appointments are for duration of 
the occupancy of the qualifying office. Persons 
appointed under (d) (e) (f) and (g) hold office for 
three years but may be re-appointed for further 
terms.

Personal data related incidents

There were no personal data-related incidents 
reportable to the Information Commissioner’s 
Office in 2017/18. There have been two Data 
Protection incidents recorded. Both incidents 
have been investigated and have been classified 
as minor. In both cases the matters were fully 

reported to NLB’s Audit and Risk Committee with 
all associated corrective and preventative actions 
implemented. NLB continue to actively manage 
the risks to all of our information via an enhanced 
competency framework stemming from our GDPR 
compliance work, and a risk aware approach to 
information security in order that any potential 
weaknesses are identified and improvements 
made at the earliest juncture.

Finance Leasing Arrangements

There is exposure on the finance leases for 
the ships due to a change in the main rate of 
Corporation Tax.  During the setting up of the 
finance lease for NLV POLE STAR, the Board 
evaluated the option of eliminating this exposure. 
However, it was found that the financial risks were 
not significant.  This option was not used for the 
lease for NLV PHAROS.

Payment of creditors’ policy

The Board seeks to adopt the conventions within 
the NAO 'Paying Government Suppliers on time 
2015' which are reflected within the Board’s 
internal practices.  

Payment of all creditors, accounts are arranged by 
the date stipulated within the contract or other 
agreed terms of credit.  Exceptions to this are as 
follows:

1.  Payment within a shorter timescale where a 
discount may be available;

2.  Where there is a genuine dispute in respect 
of the invoice concerned. In all such cases 
the supplier is immediately informed of the 
details of the query and that the payment 
will be withheld pending resolution.

Suppliers are informed of our policy via a 
supplementary notice within contracts and are 
asked to provide any comments on this issue to 
the Commercial Manager.

The average credit taken from creditors during the
year was 18 days (2016/17 - 14 days).

Directors' Report
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General

As the General Lighthouse Authority for 
Scotland and the Isle of Man NLB has 
responsibility, subject to certain provisions, for 
the superintendence and management of “all 
lighthouses, buoys and beacons” throughout 
Scotland and the Isle of Man including “the 
adjacent seas and islands....” within and beyond 
territorial waters. In all, the NLB provides 400 
physical aids complemented by a mix of radio 
navigation aids for the safety of all mariners 
engaged in general navigation irrespective of 
who pays for the service, the size or type of the 
vessel, equipment fit, the competence of crew or 
flag.

Performance Against Key Performance 
Indicators

The three GLAs continue to evaluate their 
performance against the agreed schedule 
of inter-GLA KPI’s which was established in 
2012/13.

To aid the governance of the NLB's performance 
an initiative was launched to develop a 
"Dashboard" bringing together KPI's into an 
easily digestible format.

Governance

Organisation structure

The Commissioners form the Board of 
Commissioners that oversees the Northern 
Lighthouse Board. The Board of Commissioners 
meet on two occasions each year and has a 
formal schedule of matters reserved to it for 
decision. There is a Managing Board and five 
Committees that also meet frequently and 
regularly and deal with specific aspects of the 
management of the Northern Lighthouse Board.

The Board of Commissioners has delegated 
authority to the Managing Board and 
Committees and each has defined terms of 
reference, subject to annual review. In the year 
all terms of reference have been reviewed and 
where necessary amended.

Governance Statement

The Commissioners are all independent, i.e. they 
have no personal financial interest, other than as 
Commissioners, in the affairs of NLB, any potential 
conflicts are declared, and they have no day-to-
day involvement in the running of the Northern 
Lighthouse Board other than as members of the 
Managing Board.

Only co-opted Commissioners including those 
nominated by Isle of Man and appointed by DfT and 
Scottish Ministers, receive remuneration for their 
services. 

The arrangements are set out in the Framework 
Document for the General Lighthouse Authorities.

The Board of Commissioners which meets on two 
occasions each year and has vested responsibility 
for the overall management of activities in a 
Managing Board. It is made up of the Chairman, 
Vice Chairman, six other Commissioners, the Chief 
Executive and the two Directors. The Managing 
Board meets on six occasions each year. 

The Board of Commissioners, Managing Board 
and Committees receive papers for meetings one 
week prior to all meetings. To ensure that the 
Commissioners are properly briefed a number of 
arrangements have been put in place, for example:

• attendance at Board of Commissioners’ 
meetings by the Chief Executive and Directors;

• attendance at Board of Commissioners and 
Committee meetings by managers who can 
provide specialist and professional advice to 
Commissioners.

• participation in annual ‘Inspection Voyages’ to 
give firsthand knowledge and experience of the 
AtoN estate  and the operational challenges 
faced by NLB’s Executive team. 

Organisational Review of Executive

In Corporate Plan 2016/17 the proposal was 
made to carry out a thorough ‘root and branch’ 
review of NLB’s organisational structure.  Although 
piecemeal changes had been made (eg to reflect 
changing technical skill requirements and reduction 



Asset 
Management

Chief Executive, 
HS&E, HR, 

Risk & Improvement

Director of 
Business Service

Director of 
Operations

Supply 
Chain & 

Fulfilment
Finance ICT

Business 
Support

Renewals Delivery and 
Planning

Navigation

Marine 
Ops

of the numbers of Mariners following the introduction of new more efficient vessels), the 
overall organisation had not been examined for over 20 years.   Following approval of the 
Corporate Plan by the Secretary of State, consultancy services were procured and the review 
commenced in September 2016 with the clear aim of improving the NLB’s effectiveness and 
preparing the organisation to meet future challenges.  A series of recommendations were 
put forward and approved by the Managing Board in early 2017, these included reducing 
from three Directorates to two bringing together Marine Operations and Engineering into 
one team and creating a Business Services team with an emphasis on Supply Chain and 
Fulfilment and the provision of end to end support functions.   The overarching focus is for 
a fully integrated approach to the management of NLB’s Assets throughout their life cycle.     
The implementation of the recommendations has progressed over the year with oversight 
provided by a regular Programme Board under the leadership of the Chief Executive as 
well as regular reports to the Managing Board.  By the end of FY 2017/18 the structure was 
in place and the majority of newly created posts filled.  The changes are already bringing 
improvements to the operation of NLB with more to come as underlying processes are 
further developed and fully embedded.  
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Northern Lighthouse Board

The role of 
the Board of 
Commissioners

• accountability for public funds • ensuring that high standards 
of corporate governance are 
observed at all times

• operating intra vires • ensuring that, in reaching 
decisions, the Board of 
Commissioners has taken 
into account any guidance 
issued by the Department

• strategic planning and control • ensuring awareness of the 
work of NLB

• annual Report and Accounts

• confidentiality

• acting as a responsible employer

Chairman *

• non-executive leader of the NLB, and 
with the Chief Executive, is responsible 
for ensuring that the Board gives the 
NLB strategic direction and

• Leadership of the Board of 
Commissioners and NLB

• secures efficient and effective 
discharge of its statutory duties

• Developing and maintaining 
effective relationships with 
key third parties

• Ensuring the effective 
representation, in person 
where appropriate, of NLB to

• the wider communities of 
users and the public

• Working with the Executive 
and senior staff

Commissioners • provide skills and external experience to support the Chairman and 
management

*These roles are set out in the NLB Guide to Governance
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Page 26 Board of Commissioners

At its meetings, the Board of Commissioners receives reports from the various committees and considers matters specifically reserved to the Board. 
During the year, the Board has approved the Corporate Plan; corporate strategic focus and organisational values; the Annual Report and Accounts; the 
revision of the Framework Document for the General lighthouse Authorities; and had been involved in the work of the tri-GLA Joint Strategic Board.

The Board of Commissioners has also established six other committees to deal with specific topics:

Managing Board Health, Safety 
& Environment* Navigation Audit & Risk Remuneration Nomination Committee

Chair Graham Crerar Mike Bullock
(Commissioner Rep 
Mike Brew) 

Alastair Beveridge John Ross 
until 30/9/17 
succeeded 
by Alistair 
Mackenzie

Graham Crerar Alistair Mackenzie until 
25/10/16 succeeded by 
Derek Pyle

Remit

Operational and 
strategic management 
of the organisation

The health & 
safety of NLB Staff, 
Contractors and 
others who are 
involved in any 
activities undertaken 
by NLB.  The 
protection of the 
Environment.

To formulate 
policies for the 
provision of Aids to 
Navigation

Review of the 
effectiveness 
of the internal 
control systems 
including 
corporate 
governance

Determine 
remuneration for 
the Chief Executive 
and Directors. 
Propose the 
remuneration
for Co-opted 
Commissioners.  
Support Executive 
in determining 
remuneration of 
staff

To recommend 
individuals to 
be appointed as 
Commissioners 
under Paragraph 
2 (2) of Schedule 
8 to the Merchant 
Shipping Act 1995, 
and to recommend 
Commissioners for 
appointment to the 
Board’s Committees

Highlights Oversight of 
Organisational 
Review and approval 
of recommendations 
for implementation 

Support line 
management in 
complying with its 
responsibilities

Review the plans 
and financial 
projections for 
any changes to the 
NLB’s network of 
Aids to Navigation

Scrutiny of the 
Annual Report 
and Accounts.

Assessment of 
Chief Executive 
and Directors 
performance

Oversight of 
recruitment process 
of DfT and Scottish 
Ministers  Coopted 
Commissioner 

Management of Risk Provide forum 
for staff to raise 
HS&E concerns 
or proposals for 
improvements

Orchestrated 
and participated 
in Scottish User 
Consultative Group 
meeting.

Review of NLB 
Risks inc Tri-GLA 
Brexit risks

Review of Chief 
Executive and 
Directors Objectives 
for 2017/18

Determining 
representation at Joint 
Strategic Board



Page 27

Managing Board Health, Safety 
& Environment* Navigation Audit & Risk Remuneration Nomination Committee

Highlights Review of NLB 
policies

Support initiatives 
developed by line 
management - 
including Health 
& Safety Awareness 
Programme

Reviewed emerging 
AtoN requirements 
including replacement 
Beacon at Irvine 
Harbour  

Review of internal 
audit reports and 
findings including 
the Head of 
Internal Audit’s 
annual report and 
opinion

Review of Directors’ 
remuneration 
following 
Organisational 
Review

Appointment of 
Committee members 
of Audit & Risk, 
Navigation and 
Managing Board.

Approval of various 
project briefs and 
mandates

Review of incidents 
and lessons 
identified

Reviewed availability 
of AtoNs against 
IALA standards.  
Monitor and approve 
the capital works 
programme

Review of 
management’s 
response and 
implementation 
plans

Review of 2017 Pay 
Remit Proposal and 
received updates on 
progress

Agreement of skills 
requirement for 
replacement of Co- 
Opted Commissioner 
and development of 
job specification and 
advertisement.

Financial 
performance and 
forecast review

Provide the 
HS&E Manager 
direct access to 
Non-Executive 
representative

Review and approval of 
GLA Marine Navigation 
Plan (GMNP)

Review of 
Accounting 
Officer’s 
Management 
Assurance Return 
(MAR)

Review of Gender 
Pay Gap Report and 
action plan

Review of 
performance 
indicators of Aids to 
Navigation

Implementation of 
health screening for 
workforce

Technical discussions 
including Position 
Navigation & Time 
(PNT) resilience 

Oversight of 
implementation of 
action plan for GDPR

Quality, Health, 
Safety and 
Environment matters

Oversight of 
initiatives including 
Evacuation of 
casualties from 
towers

Briefed on GLA 
Research and Radio 
Navigation department 
activity.

Oversight of 
transition to 2015 
ISO Standards 
for Quality 
Management & 
Environment 

* The HS&E Committee is under the Chairmanship of the Chief Executive with the Vice-Chairman as a permanent member to provide the direct link between staff 
and the Board of Commissioners on HS&E matters.
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Members - Commissioners BoC Managing 
Board

Audit & 
Risk Remuneration Nomination Navigation HSE 

Chairman since 1 April 2017 -elected by the Commissioners – receives a Remuneration 

Graham Crerar

2(of 2) 6(of 6) n/a 2(of 2) 2(of 2) n/a n/a

Commissioner since 1 April 2012  and co-opted until 
31 March 2020
Chairman Crerar Hotel Group. Non Executive Director, 
NHS Highland since 2014. Deputy Chair NHS Suffolk (2007- 
2011). Fund Manager with Henderson Group (2000-2005), 
Morley Fund Management (1994-2000), GAM (1992-94), 
Ivory & Sime (1984-1992).

Vice-Chairman since 1 April 2017 - nominated by Lieutenant-Governor of Isle of Man and appointed by Secretary of State – receives a Remuneration

Captain Michael Brew

2(of 2) 6(of 6) 4(of 4) 2(of 2) n/a 4(of 4) 4(of 4)

Commissioner since 1 June 2013 and co-opted until 
31 May 2019
Master Mariner.  Director of Harbours and Harbour Master 
with Isle of Man Harbours (1982-2013). Merchant Navy 
officer (1969-1982).

Law Officers for Scotland

The Rt Hon James Wolffe QC

1(of 2) n/a 1(of1) 1(of2) n/a n/a n/a

Lord Advocate for Scotland.  Commissioner since 1 
June 2016
Commissioner since June 2016.  Became an advocate in 
1992 and was First Standing Junior Counsel to the Scottish 
Ministers 2002-2007.   Called to the Bar of England and 
Wales in 2013.  Elected Dean of the Faculty of Advocates in 
2014.
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Members - Commissioners BoC Managing 
Board

Audit & 
Risk Remuneration Nomination Navigation HSE 

Alison Di Rollo QC

2(of 2) 4(of 5) n/a 2(of 2) n/a n/a n/a

Solicitor General for Scotland.  Commissioner since 
1 June 2016
Joined the Crown Office and Procurator Fiscal Service in 
1985 as a fiscal. Worked in the Policy Group at the Crown 
Office prior to being appointed Deputy Head of the High 
Court Unit and later Head of Operational Policy. In May 
2008, seconded from COPFS to take up an appointment as 
a trial advocate depute. Appointed as deputy head of the 
National Sexual Crimes Unit in 2011 and became head of 
the unit in January 2013.

Sheriffs Principal of the Sheriffdoms in Scotland

Sheriff Principal Ian R Abercrombie QC

1(of 2) n/a n/a n/a 1(of 2) n/a n/a

Sheriff Principal of South Strathclyde, Dumfries and 
Galloway.  Commissioner since 1 February 2015

Admitted to the Faculty of Advocates in 1981. Curator of 
the Faculty Library (1981-1983), on the Institute of Char-
tered Ac- countants of Scotland’s Disciplinary Committee 
(1996-2009) and a member of a Scottish Law Commission 
Advisory Group (2000-2003). Appointed Queen’s Counsel in 
1993 and sheriff in 2009. Currently a judicial member of the 
Scottish Civil Justice Council.

Sheriff Principal Marysia Lewis 

2(of 2) n/a n/a n/a 2(of 2) n/a n/a

Sheriff Principal of Tayside, Central and Fife.  
Commissioner since 1 May 2015

Admitted as a solicitor in 1981; practised in civil litigation as 
a partner with Ledingham Chalmers LLP, Solicitors, latterly 
as head of litigation; 2003-08 served as a member of the 
Board of Governors of The Robert Gordon University, and as 
vice chairwoman in 2007/08; appointed as an all Scotland 
floating sheriff based at Peterhead in 2008, as resident 
sheriff at Aberdeen in 2010 and was a commercial sheriff 
from 2012-15
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Members - Commissioners BoC Managing 
Board

Audit & 
Risk Remuneration Nomination Navigation HSE 

Sheriffs Principal of the Sheriffdoms in Scotland

Sheriff Principal Duncan Murray WS 

1(of 2) n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

Sheriff Principal of North Strathclyde.  Commissioner 
since 1 October 2014
Admitted as a solicitor 1982. Partner in Robson Mclean 
1985-2002 and Morton Fraser 2002- 2014. President of the 
Law Society of Scotland 2004/2005. Appointed Part- time 
Sheriff 2006. Solicitor member of the Scottish Civil Justice 
Council 2013-2014.

Sheriff Principal Derek Pyle

1(of 2) n/a 0(of2) n/a 1(of 2) n/a n/a

Sheriff Principal of Grampian, Highland and Islands. 
Commissioner since 1 June 2012

Solicitor from 1976. Solicitor Advocate from 1994. Latterly 
senior partner and head of litigation in Henderson Boyd 
Jackson WS, Edinburgh. Sheriff from 2000 to 2012 in 
Tayside, Central and Fife and Grampian, Highland and 
Islands.

Sheriff Principal Craig Turnbull

2(of 2) n/a 2(of 3) n/a n/a n/a n/a

Sheriff Principal of Glasgow and Strathkelvin.
Commissioner since 1 September 2016
Admitted as a solicitor in 1988, working for A.C.White in Ayr 
and Levy & McRae in Glasgow before joining MacRoberts  
in 1993. Became a partner there in 1997, specialising in 
commercial and construction disputes and health and 
safety and environmental prosecutions, and served as the 
managing partner from 2011 to 2014. Appointed as a part- 
time sheriff in 2011 and became a full-time sheriff in 2014.
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Members - Commissioners BoC Managing 
Board

Audit & 
Risk Remuneration Nomination Navigation HSE 

Sheriff Principal Mhairi Stephen QC

0(of 2) 6(of 6) n/a 2(of 2) n/a n/a n/a

Sheriff Principal of Lothian and Borders. 

Commissioner since 7 May 2011
Admitted as a solicitor in 1978 and practised in civil 
litigation as a partner with Allan MacDougal Solicitors; 
appointed as an all Scotland floating sheriff based at 
Edinburgh in 1997; resident sheriff at Edinburgh in 2000; 
Insolvency Sheriff from 2000-07; Personal Injury Sheriff, 
appointed by the Sheriff Principal to oversee the new 
Personal Injury Procedure in the Sheriff Court at Edinburgh 
2007-11; member of the Board of the Scottish Civil Courts 
Review which reported in September 2009.

Elected by the Commissioners - receives a Remuneration

Captain Alistair Mackenzie 

0(of 2) 4(of 6) 4(of 4) n/a n/a 3(of 4) n/a

Commissioner from 1 August 2009 and co-opted 
until 31 July 2018 

Master Mariner. Chairman Aberdeen Harbour Board and 
Owner/Director of Mentor Aviation Services Ltd

Elected by the Commissioners and Scottish Government appointee - receives a remuneration

John Ross CBE FRAgS L.L.

1(of 1) 2(of 2) 2(of 2) n/a 2(of 2) n/a n/a

Commissioner since 1 October 2008 and co-opted 
until 30 September 2017

Lord Lieutenant of Wigtownshire since 2015; Senior Partner 
Auchenree Farms; Chairman Care Farming Scotland 2012-
2016; Chairman Moredun Foundation 2001-2012;  Director 
NFU Mutual 1996-2006; Chairman NFU Mutual Scottish 
Board 2006-2012; Chairman NHS Dumfries and Galloway 
1997-2008; President NFU Scotland 1990 - 1996.
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Members - Commissioners BoC Managing 
Board

Audit & 
Risk Remuneration Nomination Navigation HSE 

Elected by the Commissioners - receives a remuneration

Captain Alastair Beveridge

2(of 2) 6(of 6) 3(of 4) n/a n/a 4(of 4) n/a

Commissioner since 1 March 2013 and co-opted until 
29 February 2019

Master Mariner, latterly Head of Surveillance operations for 
Marine Scotland after service with Scottish Fishery Protec-
tion Agency/Marine Scotland as Commanding Officer, the 
Euro- pean Commission- Director General (Fisheries) and a 
short spell with NLB as marine officer in the early 1980's..

Elected by the Commissioners – receives a remuneration

Captain Mike Close 

1(of 1) 2(of 2) 1(of 1) n/a n/a 1(of 1) n/a

Commissioner since 1 July 2008 and co-opted until 
30 June 2017

Senior Principal Consultant with DNV-GL, providing special-
ist advice and project management support to the global 
offshore industry;  Member of Royal Institution of Naval 
Architects, Chartered Institute of Logistics and Transport, 
Chartered Management Institute.

Elected by the Commissioners - appointed by the Department for Transport - receives a Remuneration

Rob Woodward

1(of 1) 3(of 4) 0(of 2) n/a n/a n/a n/a

Commissioner since 1 September 2017 and co-opted 
until 30 August 2020
Formerly CEO of STV plc, now Chair of the Met Office, Chair 
of Court, Glasgow Caledonian University, Chair of Ebiquity 
plc and technology company Blancco plc, Chair of Develop-
ing the Young Workforce, led by Scottish Government, which 
aims to reduce youth unemployment.
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Members - Commissioners BoC Managing 
Board

Audit & 
Risk Remuneration Nomination Navigation HSE 

Elected by the Commissioners - appointed by Scottish Ministers - receives a remuneration

Elaine Wilkinson

1(of 1) 2(of 2) 2(of 2) n/a n/a n/a n/a

Commissioner since 1 October 2017 and co-opted 
until 30 September 2020

Management accountant who worked in the public sector 
for 15 years after gaining several years’ experience in the 
private and voluntary sectors. Now resident in Scotland, she 
has held a number of senior policy, operational and corpo-
rate services positions in the Northern Ireland Civil Service.  
Currently a Board Member of the Scottish Police Authority  
and formerly a Non-Executive Director of NHS Highland.

Lord Provosts

Councillor Donald Wilson

0(of 1) n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

The Rt Hon Lord Provost of Edinburgh. Commissioner 
since 17 May 2012 to 17 May 2017
A former teacher of Computing, ICT Curriculum Develop-
ment Officer and Adult Education Tutor. Elected councillor 
in 1999. Chair of Ed- inburgh & Lothians Tourist Board and 
Edinburgh Convention Bureau (2003 to 2005), Chair of the 
Edinburgh International Science Festival (1999 to 2007) 
and Chair of the Edinburgh South West Neighbour- hood 
Partnership (2007 to 2012). Other active interests include 
the Edinburgh Institute for Mathematical Sciences.

Councillor Frank Ross

1(of 1) n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

The Rt Hon Lord Provost of Edinburgh. Commissioner 
since 18 May 2017
Elected to the City of Edinburgh Council representing the 
Corstorphine/Murrayfield ward in 2012.  Appointed Lord Provost 
in 2017, he is Edinburgh’s civic head, promoting Edinburgh at 
home and abroad. The Lord Provost is also Lord-Lieutenant, and 
greets members of the Royal Family and visiting heads of state.  A 
qualified accountant by profession, he is a fellow of the Chartered 
Institute of Management Accountants.
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Members - Commissioners BoC Managing 
Board

Audit & 
Risk Remuneration Nomination Navigation HSE 

Councillor Sadie Docherty

0(of 1) n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

The Rt Hon Lord Provost of Glasgow.  Commissioner 
since 17 May 2012 to 17 May 2017
Before entering local government, worked as a Housing 
Manager. Elected in 2007 Served as Executive Member for 
Communities and Housing and chaired Policy Development 
Committees responsible for Sustainability and the Environ-
ment, and Children and Families before becoming Lord 
Provost.

Councillor Eva Bolander

0(of 1) n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

The Rt Hon Lord Provost of Glasgow.  Commissioner 
since 18 May 2017
SNP Councillor since 2015.  Member of the Anderston/City/
Yorkhill Partnership, Member of the Emergency Committee, 
Patron Cancer Support Scotland, Vice President Ship-
wrecked Fishermen and Mariners Royal Benevolent Society, 
Patron Group West Scotland, Patron SSAFA Forces Help, 
President Prince & Princess of Wales Hospice, Vice President 
Lowland Reserve Forces, Patron Glasgow cathedral Choral 
Society.

Councillor George Adam

0(of 1) n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

Lord Provost of Aberdeen. Commissioner since 16 
May 2012 to 16 May 2017

Worked in the corporate communications sector for more 
than 30 years, as a designer, event organiser and video 
pro- ducer. Elected member on Aberdeen City Council 
since 1999 and is the councillor for the Hilton, Stockethill 
and Woodside Ward. Served on the Boards of Aberdeen 
Performing Arts, Aberdeen Greenspace and Peacock Visual 
Arts. Appointed as Lord Provost and Lord-Lieutenant of 
Aberdeen in May 2012.

Councillor Barney Crockett

0(of 1) n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

Lord Provost of Aberdeen. Commissioner since 17 
May 2017
Aberdeen Labour Councillor. Member of Aberdeen Airport 
Consultative Committee, Member Aberdeen City Heritage 
Trust, Member of Gordon Highlanders Museum Board, 
Member North East Agricultural Advisory Committee. 
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Board

Audit & 
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Convener of Highland Council

Councillor Isobel McCallum 

0(of 1) n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

Commissioner since 11 June 2015 to 17 May 2017
An Independent Member of The Highland Council since 
2003; also manage the family farm on the Black Isle.  Past 
President of the Black Isle Farmers’ Society, recently retired 
as a Director of Highland Grain Ltd.  Particular interest 
in the Council in Planning and presently chair The North 
Planning Committee.  Appointed Convener of The Highland 
Council in June 2015.  

Councillor Bill Lobban

1(of 1) n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

Commissioner since 18 May 2017

Independent Councillor.  Chair of the Badenoch and 
Strathspey Area Committee, member of the Corporate 
Resources Committee, member of the Pensions Committee, 
member of South Planning Applications Committee and 
Chair of the Re-Design Board.   Member of Cairngorms 
National Park Authority Board and Advisor to Board of 
Grantown Museum.  Species Champion for Lepus Timidus 
(Mountain Hare).

Provost of Argyll & Bute Council

Councillor Len Scoullar

0(of 2) n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

Commissioner since 1 November 2013
Independent Councillor since 1999. Retired Businessman 
(after 33 years).  Former Chair of Rothesay Winter Garden 
Trust and former Vice Chair of Bute Community Council.

The average number of years' service for Commissioners in post on 31 March 2018 was 3 years.
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Lights Finance Committee

The Lights Finance Committee includes representatives 
of the shipping industry, convened via the Chamber of 
Shipping, the GLAs and DfT officials. The Committee meets 
annually and considers the GLF’s funding requirements 
and the implications for Light Dues rates. The Committee’s 
deliberations inform official recommendations to the 
Minister with regard to the setting of Light Dues rates for 
the coming year.

Joint Strategic Board

The Joint Strategic Board (JSB) was established in 2010 
and consists of representatives from all three General 
Lighthouse Authorities.  JSB continues to deliver its main 
purpose of fostering tri-GLA cooperation and coordination 
and to realise the resulting efficiencies.  The JSB maintains 
a strategic “Road Map” to track and manage significant 
issues and initiatives which affect all three GLAs. 

DfT Group Audit Committee

The Annual Report and Accounts of the GLF are reviewed 
by the DFT Group Audit Committee, taking into account 
reports from the Audit and Risk Assurance Department 
of DfT and the National Audit Office and makes a 
recommendation to the DfT Accounting Officer. 
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Risk Management Process

Risk

Principal risks and uncertainties

During 2015 the GLAs external Triennial Risk Management and Insurance Scrutiny Review was completed 
which reaffirmed the 12 risks which are considered to pose the greatest threat to the GLAs and their 
stakeholders including the GLF. Annual internal Risk Management and Insurance Scrutiny reviews continue 
to be maintained in line with governance protocols and in order to inform the Tri GLA insurance renewal 
cycle. The last review was prepared in February 2018 and approval by NLB’s Audit & Risk Committee. The 
next comprehensive Triennial Risk Management Review is due to be undertaken in the summer of 2018 
with a particular focus on specific potential exposures, as set out within the Significant Aspects of Internal 
Control section below. In addition, this exercise will also incorporate a value led review of the GLAs’ 
insurance policy coverage, with regard to both Tri GLA pooled and domestic insurance arrangements in 
order to ensure both optimal cover and best value from a risk transfer standpoint. 

In addition to the 12 Organisational risks reviewed via the 2017 Annual Risk Management and Insurance 
Scrutiny process, NLB had identified a further Project Management risk following a GIAA audit of ‘Project 
Closure’ conducted at the request of NLB Management and with the endorsement of the Audit and 
Risk Committee. In response to the subsequent report and following specific focus on this key area of 
operational control, a revised Project Management Methodology was developed and rolled-out during 
summer 2017, with a subsequent GIAA follow-up audit which provided NLB with a "Substantial" opinion.  
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In addition and within the context of NLB’s commitment 
to the environment the organisation is externally validated 
and certificated to ISO 14001. The organisation have 
also taken the opportunity to split the former Health, 
Safety and Environment Risk Card, in order to recognise 
environmental impact as a standalone area of focus for 
NLB. These alterations are specific to NLB and bring the 
total number of Organisational Risks to 14.

External Stakeholders continue to be involved with 
informing our risk management approach and risk 
identification through engagement via a range of fora 
with: the Scottish User Consultative Group (SUCG), the 
Joint User Consultative Group (JUCG), direct consultation 
with shipping industry representatives including the 
Lights Advisory Committee as well as with UK and Scottish 
Government Departments.

The NLB’s Organisational Risks are divided into the 
following four main categories and are described below as 
follows:

• Strategic
• Financial
• Operational
• Hazard 

Strategic Risks

1) Policy
Change in UK or Scottish Government policy or application 
of that policy regarding responsibility for operation of 
Lighthouse Service (inc. amalgamation, reorganization 
or replacement), adverse changes in legislation, public 
policy, a hostile bid from another body. Changes to 
policy following the outcome of the Referendum on EU 
membership and the ongoing impact of Brexit in addition 
to the further Devolution of powers to Scottish Parliament 
or a future Referendum on Independence. 

2) Legislation
Deliberate or unintended non-compliance with legislation. 
Key areas: Health & Safety, Environmental, Financial, 
Marine (inc Merchant Shipping) , Building Regulations/
Listed Building Regulations/Planning/ Construction, Design 
and Management (CDM), Contractual, Procurement, 
Employment, Data Protection, Freedom of Information, 
General Data Protection Regulation, Transport, Copyright. 
The ongoing impact of Brexit and the associated European 
Union Withdrawal Bill on associated UK legislation.  (This is 
also reviewed by the Joint Strategic Board).

Financial Risks

3)  Corporate Governance and 
Financial Management

Inadequate governance. Failure 
to follow best practice. Improper 
conduct. Inadequate budget or 
contract management and control. 
Internal and external fraud. Failure to 
make statutory returns.
Failure to achieve value for money. 
Sole supplier ceases trading. Finance 
System Failure. Currency Fluctuations. 
Inadequate contract terms. Payroll 
System, Banking or Banking Systems.

4)  Resourcing
Reduction in resources sanctioned 
by UK Government for running NLB 
through pressure from ship owners 
and/or change in public spending 
policy/or matters arising from the 
change in status of NLB. Reduction 
in Light Dues leading to a shortfall 
in the GLF. Lack of resources to fund 
forthcoming major capital projects. 
Government imposed restrictions 
on consultancy and other contracts. 
Insufficient ship resources. Resource 
pressures resulting from changes 
within the macro economic climate.

Operational Risks

5)  AtoN Provision
Correct AtoN not provided. AtoN 
not specified. AtoN given incorrect 
characteristics. AtoN incorrectly 
positioned. Misinterpretation 
of survey information. AtoN not 
provided.

(Operational & Hazard Risk). 
Failure to rectify a casualty. Failure 
of Planning Centre to react in correct 
manner.
Loss of monitoring/control of AtoNs. 
Failure to inspect/audit reliability and 
availability and/or report defects.
Failure in Superintendence of AtoNs 
provided by 3rd parties including LLA. 
Climate change leading to loss of AtoN 
due to land erosion and/or increased 
frequency and severity of storms.
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breakdown, natural events, (including   
beach, cliff erosion, space weather and climate change) or 
damage due to inadequate repair - as applicable). 
Malicious damage / loss of on and off shore assets resulting 
from inadequate physical security measures.

12)  Health & Safety 
Failure to secure the health and safety of employees and 
third parties, including passengers. 

13)  Environmental Impact
Damage to the environment resulting from pollution to air, 
water or land. Climate change (resulting in more natural 
events and potential increased severity). Failure to reduce 
NLB's carbon footprint sufficiently. Damage to / eradication 
of native island species (flora & fauna) including SSSI 
sites, resulting from the introduction non-native invasive 
species. Excessive noise / noise pollution resulting from 
Marine Operations with impact upon local / shore based 
communities.

14)  Natural Events
Disruption/cessation of NLB’s services.

Brexit
Through the Joint Strategic Board, the three GLAs are co- 
operating to capture risks associated with the UK decision 
to exit the EU. A Tri-GLA risk register has therefore been 
compiled and is subject to regular review by the JSB and 
individual GLA Audit and Risk Committees and update in 
line with emerging information and clarity.

Scope of Responsibilities

The NLB Chief Executive has overall responsibility for 
maintaining a robust and effective system of internal 
control that supports the achievement of the Northern 
Lighthouse Board’s policies, aims and objectives whilst 
safeguarding public funds and the asset infrastructure 
for which the NLB are responsible. The Chief Executives’ 
responsibilities are further set out within the NLB Guide to 
Governance. 

The Accounting Officer for the General Lighthouse Fund 
has delegated Accounting Officer responsibility to the Chief 
Executive in a letter dated 5 June 2017. The Accounting 
Officer for the General Lighthouse Fund will therefore rely 
on the Chief Executives Management Assurance Statement 
on internal control when preparing the Governance 
Statement for the General Lighthouse Fund. The Chief 
Executive also holds accounting responsibilities on behalf 
of the Board of Commissioners as they discharge their 
responsibilities under the Merchant Shipping Act 1995.

Failure of Critical Supplier Chain. 
Loss of AtoN Operational Technology 
including monitoring systems, DGPS, 
RACONs and AIS.

6)  Information and Operational 
Technology

Major IT System failure. Unavailability 
or loss of data. Virus infection/ 
hacking/spyware attacks through 
security failure or cyber attack Lack 
of system suitability. Inadequate 
data security. Jamming of services 
including GSM/DGPS/GNSS/WiFi.

7)  Human Resources
Lack of the correct number of people 
with the right skills, experience and 
professional qualifications.

8)  Exploitation of Reserve 
Capacity

Non-compliance with contractual 
obligations (also a hazard risk). Failure 
to comply with legislation or
Framework Document for commercial 
work. Non-payment by customers. 
Natural event/disruption. 

9)  Technological Change & 
Obsolescence

Failure to identify and harness 
changes in technology/ maintain 
older technologies as replacement 
parts cease to be available. Failure of 
Critical Supplier Chain.

10) Project Management
Failure to employ a consistent 
NLB wide Programme and Project 
management approach with 
associated negative impacts upon all 
project initiatives from a time, cost 
and quality standpoint.

Hazard Risks

11)  Asset Loss/Damage
Loss of major asset or facility
e.g. tender, Depot, Lighthouse or 
contract helicopter - temporarily 
or permanently (loss to encompass 
sinking, grounding, collision, fire, 
explosion, flood, loss of utilities, theft,  
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Additional organisational risk management 
responsibilities and accountabilities have also been 
clarified and set out further within NLB’s recently 
implemented Risk Management Framework

The purpose of the system of internal control

The system of internal control is designed to manage 
risk to a reasonable level rather than to completely 
eliminate all risks to the delivery of policies, aims and 
objectives; it can therefore only provide reasonable 
and not absolute assurance of effectiveness. The 
system of internal control is based on an ongoing 
process designed to identify and prioritise the risks to 
the achievement of policies, aims and objectives, to 
evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised 
and the impact should they be realised, and to treat 
them efficiently, effectively and economically in order 
to prevent the negative impacts associated with their 
realisaion. 

The system of internal control has been in place in 
the Northern Lighthouse Board for the year ended 
31 March 2018, and up to the date of approval of the 
annual report and accounts, and accords with Treasury 
guidance.
 
Capacity to handle risk

Leadership

Risk Management Policy
The GLAs' policy on risk management is to promote a 
culture of risk awareness and responsibility within their 
respective organisations, at all levels. The GLAs will: 
evaluate, control, monitor and review all risks which 
may adversely affect the delivery of their statutory 
duties and corporate objectives as GLAs, or threaten 
them with prosecution, loss of reputation, legal liability 
or negative financial impact. Where appropriate, 
additional controls may be put in place to further 
reduce those identified risks.

The GLAs’ policy is to transfer, where possible, risks 
which are assessed as medium to large through 
insurance (where it is economically appropriate to 
do so), having regard to the amount of indemnity 
offered and previous losses. Risks are tolerated (with 
appropriate internal controls) where the cost of 
transfer is disproportionate to the benefit gained or 
they cannot be transferred, such as in the case of fines 
and punitive damages. 

Risks are treated through the application of 
internal controls (where possible) to contain them 
to acceptable levels in line with the GLAs Risk 
Appetite. Internal control mechanisms include the 
adoption of sound codes of corporate governance, 
an ongoing awareness of public affairs, accreditation 
to internationally recognised quality standards, 
staff training, robust process control and effective 
business continuity and emergency response plans. 
Occasionally, the risk response may be to terminate 
an activity.

Description of responsibilities
The Board of Commissioners decides policy and 
provides the strategic direction for the Northern 
Lighthouse Board.

The Managing Board reviews progress on the 
achievement of aims and objectives and ensures 
continued operational efficiency.

The Audit & Risk Committee monitors the 
effectiveness of internal controls and reports 
on its work to the Board of Commissioners. The 
Government Internal Audit Agency (GIAA) Group 
Chief Internal Auditor, agrees an Audit Plan with 
the Audit & Risk Committee and then through 
a programme of reviews, gives an independent 
opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the 
systems of internal control within NLB, together 
with recommendations for improvement to defined 
Government  Audit Standards.

The Executive Group (made up of Directors and 
Senior Managers), led by the Chief Executive, is 
responsible for reviewing the 14 organisational risks 
and the associated controls in place. It reports its 
findings to the Audit & Risk Committee and in the 
case of AtoN Provision to the Navigation Committee 
and Health Safety and Environmental Impact, to the 
HSE Committee.  The Executive Group also provides 
for risks identified within Departmental Risk Registers 
to be escalated if they cannot be treated/mitigated at 
the Departmental level.

NLB Risk Management Framework
In October 2016 NLB appointed a Risk and 
Improvement Manager with a specific overarching 
focus on the enhancement of NLB’s risk management 
and associated business improvement processes 
at an organisational level. This approach has led 
to the adoption and implementation of NLB’s Risk 
Management Framework, approved by the Audit 
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and Risk Committee in April 2017. The Framework 
builds on the work conducted in 2015/16 to 
refresh the management of strategic risks and 
is aligned with Tri GLA Risk Management Policy 
and Treasury guidance. The revised framework 
implements a two tier risk management system 
at both the operational and organisational 
level with risks identified and escalated (as 
appropriate), within a framework of robust 
governance and accountability which promotes 
‘risk based thinking’ within the ‘business as usual’ 
environment, in line with NLB’s ISO 9001:2015 
Certificated Quality Management Standard.

GIAA undertook a programmed audit of NLB’s 
newly implemented Risk Management Framework 
in December 2017 in order to provide independent 
assurance to NLB, with regard to the embedding 
and functionality of the framework. A Substantial 
opinion was received and the system found to be 
in line with industry best practice.

Critically NLB have also taken the opportunity to 
integrate our risk management approach within 
the context of our Business Management System, 
externally certificated to ISO 9001, 14001, 27001 
and OHSAS 18001. This has driven a culture of 
continuous improvement with regard to the 
associated management controls which underpin 
risk treatment and mitigation within a sustainable 
and proportionate framework of continuous 
improvement focused around the Plan: Do: Check: 
Act  (PDCA) cycle.

PDCA Business Management Cycle 

Staff training

Senior Management Accountability
A clear framework of risk management 
responsibility has been developed and 
promulgated throughout the organisation. This 
allocates clear senior management accountability 
with regard to the ownership and management 
of both the Organisational and Departmental 
Risk Registers. In addition, it empowers all staff 
to become more risk aware and contribute 
effectively to the identification of risks and 
associated preventative measures in order to 
prevent such risks being realised. This instils 
a new level of risk awareness and risk based 
thinking at the heart of NLB’s service delivery 
and the associated successful attainment of both 
departmental and strategic aims and objectives.

Risk Management Training
In tandem with the implementation and 
embedding NLB’s Risk Management Framework 
during 2017, the Risk and Improvement Manager 
has been extremely active throughout the 
organisation supporting individual departments 
to further build organisational capacity within this 
area of management responsibility. This has been 
underpinned by the work of both GIAA in addition 
to a range of training solutions delivered to both 
Senior Managers and NLB’s Internal Audit Team 
focusing on Risk Management within the context 
of NLB’s transition to the new standards for both 
ISO 9001:2015 (Quality) and ISO 14001:2015 
(Environmental) Management.

Risk management maturity
The three GLAs regularly review and exchange 
best practice on risk management through the 
Inter GLA Committee structure. The GLAs also 
conduct a triennial risk review, with annual 
scrutiny reporting. These processes and the 
resulting recommendations and actions are 
discussed with key stakeholders through the Lights 
Finance Committee and facilitate the ongoing 
improvement and maturation of the system in line 
with industry best practice. 

The Strategic Risk Register is also subject to 
a review timetable linking to oversight by the 
appropriate Committees of NLB with scheduled 
routine review via the Executive Group and 
further dovetailing with the appropriate 
Departmental Risk Register. This approach 
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facilitates the assessment of all key organisational 
risks twice annually, with reporting to the Board of 
Commissioners as standard. At all meetings of the 
Executive Group, two or more of the 14 Business 
Risks are reviewed in detail, the outcomes of these 
reviews are captured and document controlled 
changes are made to the risk assessments as 
appropriate. The Audit and Risk Committee meet 
four times a year and at each meeting, it considers 
all the reviews completed by the Executive Group 
since its last meeting. Progress on implementing 
any recommended mitigating actions is also 
monitored by the Audit and Risk Committee.

In addition, the aforementioned GIAA audit 
undertaken during Dec 2017 made a range of risk 
management maturity model recommendations. 
NLB will also be carefully reviewing these 
throughout 2018 with a view to optimising the 
system in line with these wherever possible.

Risk identification, evaluation and control
Risk management forms an integral part of the 
GLAs’ strategic management approach. This 
overall strategy can be set out as follows:-

• to identify significant risks to the delivery of 
key organisational aims and objectives within 
a defined process so that each element or 
level of risk identification fits within an overall 
framework;

• to evaluate the significance of those risks 
using recognised standards and parameters;

• to assign ownership of risks at an appropriate 
level within the organisation;

• to facilitate the escalation of risks to 
the appropriate action level within the 
organisation and wider government 
department;

• to respond effectively to risk through the use 
of controls, risk transfer and risk financing 
mechanisms;

• to review and report on those risks against 
the GLAs’ unique nature and funding regime 
and where appropriate put in place additional 
measures to further mitigate the impact of 
any residual risk;

• to ensure that their risk management strategy 
is operating effectively and continuously 
improving;

• to embed risk management as an intrinsic part 
of the GLAs’ organisational processes within 
the context of their Business Management 
System.

Risk tolerance “risk appetite”

The GLAs will normally only tolerate a risk after 
the application of controls and treatment so that 
the overall residual risk level is brought within 
acceptable parameters. The “risk appetite” of the 
GLAs, particularly in financial terms, is different to 
both private companies and government / public 
sector bodies due to their unique ring-fenced 
funding regime and the resources available to 
finance loss.

The GLAs, like other organisations, describe their 
“risk appetite”. This is the amount of risk that we 
are prepared to accept, tolerate, or be exposed to 
at any point in time.

The outcome of the Triennial Risk Management 
Review process informs the GLAs’ risk appetite 
and is endorsed by the Joint Strategic Board and 
the Lights Advisory Committee - representing 
shipping, ports and cargo interests.

The GLAs risk appetite has been built into NLB’s 
Risk Management Framework and is assessed in 
line with HM Treasury guidance and its associated 
five point “averse‟, “minimalist‟, “cautious‟, 
“open‟ and “hungry‟ descriptors.

The risk appetite of the GLAs is broadly considered 
to be “averse‟. This is more fully described 
as “avoidance of risk and uncertainty is a key 
organisational objective”. This is particularly the 
case for hazard risks such as health & safety and 
the environment. In respect of the exploitation 
of commercial opportunities it is considered to 
be more "cautious" but always within a robust 
framework of loss control. “Cautious” is more 
fully described as “preference for safe delivery 
options that have a low degree of residual risk 
and may only have limited potential for reward”. 
Risk appetite target scoring has been further 
incorporated within NLB’s Departmental Risk 
Registers in order to embed this in a meaningful 
way, at all levels within the organisation. 
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As a minimum the GLAs seek to ensure:-

• the safety of all
• compliance with laws and regulations 

(domestic, IALA and EU);
• the efficient and cost effective operation of 

their respective organisations;
• effective internal control and corporate 

governance.
The GLAs’ risk response seeks however to achieve 
an appropriate balance between the potential 
realisation of risk and the cost of limiting that risk. 
They consider each risk in terms of whether it 
should be transferred, tolerated, where it cannot 
be transferred or the cost of transfer would be 
disproportionate to the potential benefit gained, 
treated to an acceptable level, or in exceptional 
cases discontinued.

Review of effectiveness
The Chief Executive has overall responsibility 
for reviewing the effectiveness of the system 
of internal control. This is informed by the 
work of the internal auditors and the Managers 
within NLB with support and facilitation by the 
Risk and Improvement Manager. Managers 
have responsibility for the development and 
maintenance of the internal management control 
framework, derived from the construction and 
maintenance of Departmental Risk Registers. 
The Chief Executive also benefits from reporting 
via the Risk and Improvement Manager relating 
to inputs from internal / external auditors, 
routine checks and inspections in addition to 
NLB’s Performance Dashboard and associated 
KPIs. GIAA also provide the Chief Executive with 
reports within their management letter and other 
assurance reports.

The Chief Executive is also advised on the 
implications of the result of his review of the 
effectiveness of the system of internal control by 
the Board of Commissioners, the Managing Board 
and the Audit & Risk Committee. This enables 
any identified weaknesses to be addressed and 
ensures that the continuous improvement of the 
whole system is in place and sustained.

The key processes in place are:

• the Board decides policy and provides 
the strategic direction for the Northern 
Lighthouse Board;

• the Managing Board reviews progress on the 
achievement of aims and objectives and to 
maintain operational efficiency;

• periodic reports from the Chairman of the 
Audit and Risk Committee which operates in 
line with HM Treasury Audit & Risk Assurance 
committee handbook, to the Board of 
Commissioners concerning internal control;

• regular reports by the GIAA Group Chief 
Internal Auditor, to standards defined in 
the Government Internal Audit Standards, 
giving independent opinion on the adequacy 
and effectiveness of the systems of internal 
control together with recommendations for 
improvement;

• regular reviews of compliance with the 
Framework Document for the General 
Lighthouse Authorities that governs the 
relationship between the Department 
for Transport and the General Lighthouse 
Authorities. The results of these reviews are 
reported to the Audit & Risk Committee;

• a separate statement within the Head of 
Internal Audit’s annual report giving his 
opinion on the effectiveness of the internal 
control process; this report, which is reviewed 
by the Audit and Risk Committee, then forms 
the basis for a review of Internal Control by 
the Board of Commissioners;

• regular reviews of the 14 Business Risks at the 
Executive Group meetings;

• Third Party Certification Audits whose key 
findings are reported to the Executive  Group 
in addition to the Audit and Risk Committee 
and Managing Board;

• risk based Internal Audit by the NLB in-house 
team with sponsorship from Senior Managers, 
in line with (ISO 9001 2015). All key findings 
reported directly to the Executive Group 
Members with overview reporting to the 
Audit and Risk Committee and via NLB’s 
Corporate Performance Dashboard.

• NAO External Audit who independently audit 
NLB accounts and summarise their findings in 
the management letter;

• the provision of the Management Assurance 
Statement which is completed in accordance 
with the DfT Group requirements. The 
Statement is reviewed by the Audit & 
Risk Committee with all corrective and 
preventative actions identified and tracked via 
NLB’s Process Improvement Framework.
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GIAA Group Chief Internal Auditor Opinion
In his annual report the GIAA Head of Internal 
Audit was able to provide an overall  “Moderate” 
assurance rating.  He said “This contrasts with our 
2016/17 Opinion of ‘Limited’ and reflects what we  
consider to be the increasingly effective impact 
of NLB’s change process in enhancing its control 
environment.   The impact of the change process 
has been particularly evident from the enhanced 
clarity and accountability from NLB’s new 
organisational structure. It is also underpinned 
by a high level of management commitment to 
ongoing process improvement”.

Significant aspects of ongoing loss control focus
Following on from an extensive management led 
focus on Programme and Project Management, 
GIAA have performed a desktop review in March 
2017 to assess NLB’s progress against the prior 
year report’s agreed recommendations. The key 
outstanding action related to the implementation 
of a standard project management methodology 
which has now been fully addressed and a 
robust Programme and Project management 
Methodology has now been implemented.

During the 2017/18 NLB have also focused heavily 
on cyber security working in partnership with 
GIAA with a targeted audit programme in order to 
ensure effective mitigating measures, governance, 
risk management and control relating specific to 
cyber threats. A range of risk management led 
mitigating actions have been progressed and our 
vessels remain a particular area of ongoing focus 
in this regard. NLB are active members of the 
tri-GLA cyber security group and this topic has 
specifically been identified for further attention 
within the context the GLAs’ Triennial Risk 
Management Review.

Whilst not deemed to represent significant 
internal control problems, NLB have also 
incorporated the following risk based focus areas 
which will be further reviewed within the context 
of the GLAs’ Triennial Risk Management Review:

• the potential impact of the outcome of Brexit 
negotiations on GLA operations.

• the potential implications of the General Data 
Protection Regulation on GLA operations.

• the potential liabilities arising from 
environmental and pollution risks. 

• the potential implications for the GLAs’ vessel 
fleet, and shore side operations, in relation to 
the Wreck Removal Convention Act 2011.

• workplace injuries (both shore-side and 
marine).

• potential liabilities arising from tri-GLA 
helicopter operations and current regulatory 
developments in terms of UK Civil Aviation 
Authority and Irish Aviation Authority 
requirements.

• the resilience of the GLAs’ emergency 
response and business continuity 
arrangements. 

• the potential threats and opportunities 
arising from the GLAs’ ability to utilise reserve 
capacity in order to undertake commercial 
work.

Within the context of NLB’s agreed GIAA Audit 
Plan for 2018/19 our risk based focus areas are as 
follows:

• Key Financial Controls: Annual testing of NLB 
financial control framework, to include Travel 
and Subsistence and Procurement Service 
Follow Up.

• Governance: Link to Organisation Review as 
appropriate but primarily based on review 
of working of Governance bodies (including 
subcommittees), Commissioner role, oversight 
processes.

• GDPR Compliance: Delivery of GDPR 
procedures and processes in line with the 
requirements of the General Data Protection 
Act 2018.

• Inventory Control: Depot stock control and 
management processes within the context of 
NLB’s organisational review.

Noncompetitive Staff Pay
NLB have identified an ongoing concern regarding 
the relaxing of pay restraints by the Scottish 
Government which has led to an unfavourable 
differential between UK and Scottish government. 
This has resulted in a significant risk relating to 
recruiting and retaining staff for NLB, potentially 
restricting the ability to deliver a statutory safety 
service. This risk has been escalated to the DfT 
Maritime Risk Register and NLB will continue 
to discuss mitigation in liaison with their DfT 
Sponsorship Team.

Ministerial direction

During 2017/18 the Minister directed NLB under 
Section 197(3) Merchant Shipping Act 1995 to 
arrange for the replacement of the destroyed 
beacon which marked the outer end of the 
approach channel to Irvine Harbour.
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Statement of Accounting Officer Responsibilities

Statement of the Responsibilities of the General Lighthouse Authorities’ Boards, the Secretary of State for 
Transport and the Accounting Officer

Under section 218 of the Merchant Shipping Act 1995 the Secretary of State for Transport, with the 
consent of HM Treasury, has directed NLB to prepare for each financial year a statement of accounts in the 
form of and on the basis set out in the Accounts Direction. The accounts are prepared on an accruals basis 
and must give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of NLB and of income and expenditure, cash flows 
and changes in equity for the financial year.

In preparing the accounts, the Accounting Officer is required to comply with the requirements of the 
Government Financial Reporting Manual and in particular to:

• Observe the Accounts Direction issued by the Secretary of State for Transport including the relevant 
accounting and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies on a consistent basis;

• Make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis;
• State whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the Government Financial Reporting 

Manual have been followed, and disclose and explain any material departures in the accounts; and
• Prepare the accounts on a going concern basis.
• Confirm that, as far as he is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the auditors are 

unaware, and had taken all the steps that he ought to have taken to make himself aware of any 
relevant audit information and to establish that the auditors are aware of that information.

• Confirm that the annual report and accounts as a whole is fair, balanced and understandable and that 
he takes personal responsibility for the annual report and accounts and the judgements required for 
determining that it is fair, balanced and understandable.

The Accounting Officer of the Department for Transport has designated the Chief Executive as Accounting 
Officer of NLB. The responsibilities of the Accounting Officer include responsibility for the property and 
regularity of the funds allocated to NLB in its capacity as a General Lighthouse Authority and keeping 
proper records and safeguarding the assets of NLB, in its capacity as a General Lighthouse Authority.
These responsibilities are set out in the Framework Document which is the contractual agreement 
between the Department for Transport and the General Lighthouse Authorities.



Remuneration and Staff Reports

Composition

The Board’s Remuneration Committee is made up of four Commissioners who have no personal financial 
interest, other than as Commissioners, in the matters to be decided, no potential conflicts of interest 
arising from cross-directorships, and no day-to-day involvement in running the Northern Lighthouse Board 
other than as members of the Board of Commissioners and the Managing Board.

The Committee consults the Chief Executive about its proposals, other than in relation to his own 
remuneration, and has access to professional advice from inside and outside the Board.

Arrangements are in place for the Remuneration Committee to ask for and receive legal advice from the 
Board’s solicitor. The Committee has used external advice to provide comparison pay information and to 
recommend new structures.

Background

The remuneration of the Chief Executive and Directors is determined by the Remuneration Committee 
consisting of the Chairman and Vice Chairman of the Board and two other Commissioners, under powers 
delegated by the Board of Commissioners.

Due to organisational changes the roles of Directors were reviewed by a firm of external consultants and 
new salaries approved by the Remuneration Committee and the DfT in August 2017.

General

The creation of long-term effectiveness depends on the talents, contribution and commitment of the 
Chief Executive and Directors (the “executive directors”); so the Board must be able to attract and retain 
people of high quality. It is essential that the remuneration structure should be competitive with those of 
comparable organisations.
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Salary Payments £000’s Bonus £000’s Benefits in Kind 
(to nearest £100)

Pension benefits 
(to nearest £000’s)

Total (£000’s)

2017/18 2016/17 2017/18 2016/17 2017/18 2016/17 2017/18 2016/17 2017/18 2016/17

Mike Bullock 125-130 120-125 0 0 0 300 51 46 180-185 170-175
Mairi Rae 95-100 80-85 0 0 300 300 36 30 130-135 115-120
Phillip Day 95-100 80-85 0 0 100 100 61 28 155-160 110-115
Moray Waddell* 0 50-55 0 0 0 0 0 230 0 280-285

* Moray Waddell left under Voluntary Exit Terms on 30 November 2016.  FTE salary 2016/17 £80-85K

The outcome of a recent pay review has resulted in the consolidation of bonuses into pay from 2016/17.  

During 2017/18 due to unforeseen circumstances Mairi Rae was unable to take planned leave and this was liquidated into pay taking her salary from the 90-
95 band to 95-100 band.  The actual salary paid was in line with the DfT approved pay remit.

Executive Directors’ Pensions

The Executive Directors are members of the Principal Civil Service Pension Scheme which is an unfunded defined benefit scheme. The following table show 
the cash equivalent transfer value (CETV) of the director’s pension benefits accrued at the beginning and the end of the reporting period. A Cash Equivalent 
Transfer Value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capitalised value of the pension scheme benefits accrued by a member at a particular point in time.

The benefits valued are the member’s accrued benefits and any contingent spouse’s pension payable from the scheme. A CETV is a payment made by a 
pension scheme or arrangement to secure pension benefits in another pension scheme or arrangement when the member leaves a scheme and chooses to 
transfer the pension benefits they have accrued in their former scheme. The pension figures shown relate to the benefits that the individual has accrued as a 
consequence of their total pensionable service in the Principal Civil Service Pension Scheme, not just their current appointment. CETVs are calculated within 
the guidelines and framework prescribed by the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries.

The table shows the real increase in the value of the CETV. It takes account of the increase in accrued pension due to inflation and contributions paid by the 
director and is calculated using common market valuation factors for the start and end of the period.

Remuneration of Executive Directors
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Service Agreements

Each of the Executive Directors has a Service Agreement which can be terminated by either the Board or the Executive Director serving 3 months notice.  

Remuneration of Commissioners 

Commissioners:

1.  elected by the Board under, and subject to, the proviso set forth in Paragraphs 2 and 3 of Schedule 8 to the Merchant Shipping Act 1995 (the “Co-
opted Commissioners”); or

 
2. nominated by the Lieutenant-Governor of the Isle of Man and appointed by the Secretary of State and Scottish Ministers.  

Co-opted Commissioners are paid a basic remuneration per annum and with the exception of the Chairman and Vice-Chairman are eligible for an 
additional daily payment for each day exceeding 20 days in the year. 

Real Increase 
in pension

£000

Real increase 
in lump sum

£000

Accrued 
pension

£000

Accrued lump 
sum
£000

Cash 
equivalent 

transfer value 
at 31 March 

2017
£000

Cash 
equivalent 

transfer value 
at 31 March 

2018
£000

Real increase in 
cash equivalent 
transfer value

£000

Employer 
contribution 

to partnership 
pension 
account

£000
Mike Bullock 2.5 - 5 0 10 - 15 0 107 151 31 0
Mairi Rae 0 - 2.5 0 15 - 20 0 165 198 19 0
Phillip Day 2.5 - 5 0 35 - 40 0 414 472 32 0
Moray Waddell 0 0 0 0 867 0 0 0

2017/18
£

2016/17 
£

Basic annual remuneration 10,265 10,092
Additional daily payment 500 500
Chairman’s remuneration 20,536 20,196
Vice-Chairman’s remuneration 13,687 13,464
Total amount paid including National Insurance Contributions 76,391 75,866
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Co-opted Commissioners are appointed for three 
years but may be re-appointed for further terms 
up to a normal limit of 10 years in accordance 
with guidance from the Commissioner of Public 
Appointments.

Ex-Officio Commissioners hold office for the 
duration of their qualifying office and are not paid. 

Commissioners are not members of the Principal 
Civil Service Pension Scheme and are not entitled 
to receive compensation for loss of office. 
Commissioners are entitled to reclaim travel and 
subsistence costs at the same rates and under the 
same regulations that apply to employees.

The amount paid as remuneration to the 
Commissioners is analysed as follows: 

The 2017/18 full time equivalent salary for the 
Commissioners (excluding the Chairman and Vice-
Chairman) is £10,299 (2016/17 - £10,197).

Pay Multiples

The annualised remuneration, i.e. the full-time 
equivalent salary, of the highest-paid director in 
the Board in the financial year 2017/2018 was
£125,606 (2016/2017  £124,312).  This was 
3.8 times (2016/2017, 4.1 times) the median 
remuneration of the workforce, which was
£33,082 (2016/2017 - £30,583).

In 2017/2018 (2016/2017 - Nil) no employees 
received remuneration in excess of the highest- 
paid director. Remuneration ranged from £10,288 
to £100,000 (2016/2017 £20,572 to £84,820)
Total remuneration includes salary, non-

consolidated performance-related pay, benefits-
in-kind as well as severance payments.  It does not 
include employer pension contributions and the 
cash equivalent transfer value of pensions.

Staff Report

Employee involvement

The Board is committed to effective 
communications, which it maintains through 
formal and informal briefings, the Board’s 
magazine (‘The Journal’), newsletters and 
electronic media, including its Intranet service and 
Facebook. There is also a standing invitation for 
staff members to observe Boards and Committee 
meetings.

Consultation with employees is undertaken 
through the recognised Trade Unions and various 
committees which cover all staff. The Chief 
Executive also chairs a Staff Council which meets 
four times a year.

The Trade Union (Facility Time Publication) 
Regulations 2017

Relevant Union Officials

Number of employees who were 
relevant union officials during the 
relevant period

6

Full-time equivalent employee 
number

6

Percentage of time spent on facility time

Percentage of time Number of employees
0% 2

1-50% 4
51-99% 0
100% 0

Percentage of pay bill spent on facility time
Provide the total cost of 

facility time
£760

Provide the total pay bill £9,381,000
Provide the percentage of 
the total pay bill spent on 
facility time, calculated as:
(total cost of facility time/

total pay bill) X 100

0.008%

2017/18                                    
£

2016/17                                    
£

Graham Crerar 
(Chairman)

20,536 13,464

Mike Brew 
(Vice Chairman)

13,687 10,092

Alistair MacKenzie 10,265 20,196
Alastair Beveridge 10,265 10,092
Mike Close 
(Retired 30/6/2017)

2,523 10,092

John Ross 
(Retired 30/9/2017)

5,116 10,092

Rob Woodward 
(Appointed 27/9/2017)

5,264 0

Elaine Wilkinson 
(Appointed 1/10/2017)

5,150 0
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Paid Trade Union Activities

Time spent on paid 
trade union activities 

as a percentage of total 
paid facility time hours 

calculated as: 
(total hours spent on paid 
trade union activities by 
relevant union officials 

during the relevant period 
÷ total paid facility time 

hours) x 100 

No employee 
undertook paid 

trade union 
activities in the 

period.

Equal opportunities

The Board is an equal opportunity employer and 
at every stage of recruitment, staff transfer and 
promotion, carefully ensures that the selection 
processes used in no way give any preference on 
the basis of gender, age, race, disability, sexual 
orientation or religion.

Disabled employees

The policy of the Board towards the employment 
of disabled people is that a disability is no bar 
to recruitment or advancement. However, the 
nature of the duties at lighthouses and ships 
impose some limitations on the employment 
of disabled staff. When dealing with employee 
absence, compliance with the Equality Act is 
ensured by always seeking expert advice through 
our Occupational Health Service.

Training

There is a comprehensive training plan 
throughout the NLB that aims to give staff 
the skills and knowledge required to perform 
efficiently. Staff are encouraged to develop 
through performance and development systems, 
whereby personal development plans are 
produced on an annual basis for every member of 
staff. In addition, skill gaps are identified through 
careful strategic analysis and organisation wide 
development initiatives introduced as a result.

Gender Pay Gap Reporting

The NLB produced its 31 March 2017 Gender 
Pay Gap report in April 2018.  There was no legal 
requirement for the NLB to produce the report as 

we have less than 250 employees, however, the 
Board is supportive of any analysis and actions 
that can result in improved equality for women in 
the workplace.  The NLB has a mean gender pay 
gap of 20.7%, the main reason for the gap is that 
most of our employees work within the marine 
or engineering areas of the business which are 
mainly made up of men, this reflects both these 
industries on a national level as well.  Whilst 
the NLB is limited in what it can do to try and 
get women into these sectors we have set out a 
number of actions that we can implement to try 
and reduce the pay gap within the NLB.  The full 
report can be found on the NLB website.

Apprenticeship

NLB continues to build on its investment in Rating 
and AtoN apprenticeships.  The organisational 
review identified other areas where apprentices 
will be developed such as ICT, Procurement and 
Finance.  These posts were approved by DfT in 
the 2018/19 Corporate Plan.

Tri-GLA staff

TH currently hosts three inter GLAs functions: 
Research and Radio Navigation; the collection 
of light dues in the UK, and out-of-hours AtoN 
monitoring. Light dues collection is achieved using 
an internet based collection system, operated 
by Institute of Chartered Shipbrokers light dues 
collectors in each port.  Other arrangements exist 
in the Republic of Ireland and the Isle of Man for 
the collection of light dues.
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NLB staff

2017/18 2016/17 Restated 
2016/17

Total Permanently 
employed 

staff

Others Total Total

£000’s £000’s £000’s £000’s £000’s

Wages and salaries 7,296 6,840 456 7,313 7,570
Social security costs 737 737 0 787 787
Sub-Total 8,033 7,577 456 8,100 8,357
PCSPS Pension Contribution 1,333 1,333 0 1,349 1,349
Other Contributions 15 15 55 55
Release of MNOPF provision 0 0 (1,353) (1,353)
Redundancy costs 167 167 0 268 268
Total net costs 9,548 9,092 456 8,420 8,677

Holiday accruals of £257K were omitted from 2016/17 results which have now been restated to reflect the 
correct position.  Changes to the status of the MNOPF resulted in the release of the Section 75 provision of 
£1.353m in 2016/17.

The average number of whole-time equivalent persons employed during the year was as follows:

2017/18 2016/17
Total Permanent 

Staff
Others Total

Directly Employed 169.2 169.2 0 170.2
Other 10.1 0 10.1 6.5
Ministers 0 0 0 0
Special Advisers 0 0 0 0
TOTAL 179.2 169.2 10.08 176.7

Reporting of Compensation Scheme Exit Packages

There were four compensation scheme exit packages paid during the year (two in 2016/17).
Exit package cost band Number of 

compulsory 
redundancies  

Number of other 
departures agreed  

Total number of exit 
packages by cost band 

2017/18 2016/17 2017/18 2016/17 2017/18 2016/17

<£10,000 0 0 0 0 0 0
£10,000 - £25,000 0 0 2 0 2 0
£25,000 - £50,000 0 0 1 0 1 0
£50,000 - £100,000 0 0 1 1 1 1
£100,000- £150,000 0 0 0 0 0 0
£150,000- £200,000 0 0 0 1 0 1
Total number of exit packages 0 0 4 2 4 2
Total Cost £0 £0 £167,392 £267,820 £167,392 £267,820
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Diversity information

Number of persons of each sex who were employed by the NLB as at 31 March 2018 was:

Female Male Total
Commissioners 5 14 19
Directors 1 2 3
Manager 1 11 12
Employee 31 139 170
Total 38 166 204

Sick Absence

2017/18 2016/17
Total number of days lost due to sickness 1,827 1,761
Average number of days lost per employee 11.01 10.48

The average number of days lost per employee is based on total number employed of 166 which excludes 
lighthouse attendants, casual staff and Commissioners.

There has been an increase in sick absence since 2016/17 this has been due to an increase in long term 
absence in 2017/18 with a total of 23 staff (15 employees 2016/17) on longer term sick absence. 48 days 
absence was related to injury on duty, 2 people were affected and both instances occurred on the ship  
(2016/17 : 2).  In the year 2016/17 we lost 14 days due to injury on duty.

Staff Relations

There were no instances of industrial action during the year (nil 2016/17). 

Off-payroll engagements

The Northern Lighthouse Board has not entered into any off-payroll engagements during 2017/18 (2016/17 
Nil).

Expenditure on consultancy

The amount spent on consultancy was £141,631 (2016/17 £158,752).  There was no contingent labour 
expenditure within the consultancy cost during 2017/18 (2016/17 - Nil).  
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Parliamentary Accountability 
and Audit Report

Losses and special payments
During 2017/18 there were four redundancy payments totaling £167,393 (2016/17 £267,820). Two 
exit packages were within the £10k - £25k cost band, one exit package was within the £25k - £50k 
cost band and one was within the £50k-£100k cost band.

A special payment of £100 was donated to the Scottish Shipping Benevolent Association during 
2017/18 (2016/17 £100)

Obsolete inventory amounting to £3,504 (2016/17 £512) has been written off during the year.

Fees and Charges
Light Dues, the principal source of income to the GLF, is a tax set annually in the UK by the Shipping 
Minister in accordance with the Merchant Shipping Act 1995.  The rates are set at a level which 
balances income with expenditure; any surplus generated remains in the GLF to fund navigational 
Safety in a future period.

Contingent Liablities
There are no remote contingent liabilities (2016/17 - Nil).

Regularity of Expenditure
The Northern Lighthouse Board has complied with the regularity of expenditure requirements as set 
out in HM Treasury guidance.

Long-term Expenditure trends
The GLAs have an on-going strategy to collaborate using tri -GLA procurement arrangements 
whenever possible. During 2015/16 the GLAs entered into a seven year agreement with PDG 
Helicopters using two  EC135 aircraft and this will deliver substantial savings of approximately 
£7.8m for the GLAs while guaranteeing high quality aircraft services through to 2022.  GIAA audited 
the expected financial benefits of the contract in December 2017 and found the savings to be 
achievable.  

The GLAs continued to  provide important support to  each other via the lnter-GLA Ship Sharing 
Agreement. As set out in note 26 NLB provided support to TH during 2017/18. This agreement is 
extremely important for all three GLAs providing service to the mariner as well as allowing each GLA 
greater scope and flexibility in utilising their vessels for commercial charter activities.

During the year the GLAs continue to·  effectively engage and collaborate at a strategic level via the 
Joint Strategic Board and at an operational level through the many lnter-GLA Committees (IGCs)

Audit Report
The accounting records of the Northern Lighthouse Board are examined by the UK Comptroller and 
Auditor General prior to consolidation in the Accounts of the GLF. The GLF Accounts are formally 
certified by the UK Comptroller and Auditor General under the terms of Section 211 of the Merchant 
Shipping Act 1995. There is no provision for a separate audit certificate to be appended to these 
Accounts. So far as the Chief Executive acting in the role of the Accounting Officer is aware, there 
is no relevant audit information of which Northern Lighthouse Board auditors are unaware. The 
Accounting Officer has taken all the steps that he ought to have taken to make himself aware of 
the relevant audit information and to establish that the Northern Lighthouse Board auditors are 
aware of that information. The Accounting Officer also confirms that the annual report and accounts 
as a whole is fair, balanced and understandable and that he takes personal responsibility for the 
annual report and accounts and the judgments required for determining that it is fair, balanced and 
understandable.

Mike Bullock
Mike Bullock

Chief Executive
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Financial Statements
Statement of Comprehensive Net Income 

Note 2017/18                           
£000’s

2016/17                
£000

Restated   
2016/17                

£000
Expenditure
Staff costs 3 9,548 8,420 8,677
Depreciation 8 4,212 3,640 3,640
Amortisation 10 40 65 65
Other expenditure 4 7,388 8,098 8,098
Revaluation of Property, Plant and Equipment 8 (250) 95 95

20,938 20,318 20,575
Income
Advances from the General Lighthouse Fund 23 20,717 21,650 21,650
Other income 2 1,548 1,479 1,479

22,265 23,129 23,129
Net Expenditure/(Income) (1,327) (2,811) (2,554)

Interest payable/receivable 5 and 6 362 435 435
Revaluation of investment properties 9 (5) (500) (500)
Net Expenditure after interest (970) (2,876) (2,619)
Net Expenditure after interest (970) (2,876) (2,619)
Other Comprehensive Expenditure
Unrealised gains/losses from revaluations 8 (16,068) (1,902) (1,902)
Total Comprehensive Income (17,038) (4,778) (4,521)

The Notes on pages 59 to 78 form part of these Accounts.
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Statement of Financial Position as at 31 March 2018

Note 31 March 2018             
£000’s

31 March 2017            
£000’s

  Restated 
 31 March 2017               

£000
Non-Current Assets
Property Plant & Equipment 8 101,938 87,256 87,256
Intangible Assets 10 33 73 73
Investment Assets 9 670 665 665
Trade and other receivables 11 10 3 3
Total Non-Current Assets 102,651 87,997 87,997
Current Assets
Inventories 13 806 803 803
Trade and other receivables 14 750 891 891
Cash 15 738 273 273
Total Current Assets 2,294 1,967 1,967
Total Assets 104,945 89,964 89,964
Current Liabilities
Trade and other payables 16 4,136 4,112 4,369
Total Current Liabilities 4,136 4,112 4,369
Non Current Assets plus / less Net Current 
Assets / Liabilities 

100,809 85,852 85,595

Non-Current Liabilities
Other payables 19.2 7,530 9,354 9,354
Total Non-Current Liabilities 7,530 9,354 9,354
Assets less Liabilities 93,279 76,498 76,241
Reserves
Accumulated Reserve 29,990 27,358 27,101
Revaluation Reserve 63,289 49,140 49,140
Total 93,279 76,498 76,241

The notes on pages 60 to 78 form part of these Accounts.

The financial statement on pages 55 to 58 and related notes were approved by the Commissioners of 
Northern Lighthouses on 16 November 2018 and signed on its behalf by:

Mike Bullock

Mike Bullock
Chief Executive
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Statement of Cash Flows 
for the year ended 31 March 2018

Note 2017/18 2016/17 Restated   
2016/17   

Cash flows from operating activities £000’s £000’s £000’s
Net (Deficit)/surplus after interest 970 2,876 2,619
Loss on disposal of assets 8 259 56 56
Depreciation 8 4,212 3,640 3,640
Amortisation 10 40 65 65
Revaluation of Property, Plant and Equipment 8 (250) 95 95
Downward revaluations 0 0 0
(Increase)/Decrease in trade and other receivables 11 and 14 132 52 52
(Increase)/Decrease in inventories 13 (3) (195) (195)
Increase/(Decrease) in trade payables 16 (296) 237 494
Revaluation of Investment properties 9 (5) (500) (500)
Use of provisions 17 0 (1,353) (1,353)
Net cash outflow from operating activities 5,060 4,973 4,973
Cash flow from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 8 (2,835) (3,307) (3,307)
Proceeds of disposal of property, plant and equipment 0 (1) (1)
Net cash outflow from investing activities (2,835) (3,308) (3,308)

Cash flows from financing activities
Capital element of payments in respect of finance leases (1,760) (1,682) (1,682)
Net cash flow from financing activities (1,760) (1,682) (1,682)
Net cash flow from all activities 465 (17) (17)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash in the period 465 (17) (17)
Cash at the beginning of the period 273 290 290
Cash at the end of the period 738 273 273

The notes on pages 60 to 78 form part of these Accounts.
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Statement of Changes in Equity
for year ended 31 March 2018

Accumulated 
Reserve

Revaluation 
Reserve

Total Reserves

£000 £000 £000

Balance at 31 March 2016 22,746 48,973 71,719
Gain/Losses on revaluation 1,902 1,902
Release of reserves to the Statement of 
Comprehensive Net Income

1,735 (1,735) 0

Retained Surplus/(Deficit) 2,877 2,877
Balance at 31 March 2017 27,101 49,140 76,241

Restated Provision in 2016/17 (257) (257)

Restated Balance at 31 March 2017 27,101 49,140 76,241
Gain/Losses on revaluation 16,068 16,068
Release of reserves to the Statement of 
Comprehensive Net Income

1,919 (1,919) 0

Retained Surplus/(Deficit) 970 970
Balance at 31 March 2018 29,990 63,289 93,279

Accumulated reserve

The general reserve represents the accumulated surplus of the organisation.

Revaluation reserve

This represents any increase in an assets carrying amount as a result of revaluation. If the assets 
carrying amount is decreased as a result of a later revaluation, any previous revaluation gain is 
released back to the asset to the extent that it covers the decrease in valuation. Any decrease 
in valuation in excess of a previous gain is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Net 
Expenditure. When an asset is de-recognised any gain held in respect of that asset is transferred 
directly to the General Reserve.
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Notes to the Accounts
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Notes to the Accounts 
for the year ended 31 March 2018

1. Statement of Accounting policies

(a) Accounting convention

These accounts have been prepared in 
accordance with the 2017/18 Government 
Financial Reporting Manual (FReM) issued 
by HM Treasury, except for the departures 
specifically required by the accounts direction. 
The accounting policies contained in the FReM 
follow International Accounting Standards 
as adopted or interpreted for the public 
sector. Where the FReM permits a choice of 
accounting policy, the accounting policy which 
has been judged to be the most appropriate 
to the particular circumstances of the GLF for 
the purpose of giving a true and fair view has 
been selected. The GLF’s accounting policies 
have been applied consistently in dealing 
with items considered material in relation to 
the accounts. In addition, the GLAs’ accounts 
have been prepared in accordance with the 
accounts direction issued by the Secretary of 
State for Transport.

(b) Going concern

The Statement of Financial Position as at 31 
March 2018 shows net assets of £93,279,000. 
It has accordingly been considered appropriate 
to adopt a going concern basis for the 
preparation of these financial statements.

(c) Intangible assets

Computer Software has been capitalised and 
is amortised on a straight-line basis over the 
estimated useful economic life of between 
3 to 5 years dependent on the expected 
operating life of the asset. Intangible Assets 
are shown at cost less amortisation. Intangible 
licences have been capitalised and are 
amortised over the life of the licence.
 
Amortisation is calculated on an annual basis 
and is commenced in the year after original 
purchase or when the asset is brought into 
use and is continued up to the end of the year 
prior to disposal.

(d) Non-current assets and depreciation

Capitalisation Policy

Non-current assets are recognised where the 
economic life of the item of property plant 
and equipment exceeds one year; the cost of 
the item can be reliably measured; and the 
original cost is greater than £5,000.
Assets are recognised initially at cost, which 
comprises purchase price, any costs of 
bringing assets to the location and condition 
necessary for them to be capable of operating 
in the manner intended, and initial estimates 
of the costs of dismantling and removing the 
assets where an obligation to dismantle or 
remove the assets arises from their acquisition 
or usage.

Subsequent costs of day-to-day servicing 
are expensed as incurred. Where regular 
major inspections of assets are required 
for their continuing operation, the costs 
of such inspections are capitalised and the 
carrying value of the previous inspection 
is derecognised, for example Dry Dock and 
Repair (DD&R) of ships.

Expenditure on renewal of structures is 
capitalised when the planned maintenance 
spend enhances or replaces the service 
potential of the structure. All routine 
maintenance expenditure is charged to the 
Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure. 
Internal staff costs that can be attributed 
directly to the construction of an asset, 
including renewals of structures that are 
capitalised, are capitalised.
 
Operating software, without which related 
hardware cannot operate, is capitalised, with 
the value of the related hardware, as property, 
plant and equipment. Application software, 
which is not an integral part of the related 
hardware, is capitalised separately as an 
intangible non-current asset.

Any gains or losses on the eventual disposal of 
property, plant and equipment are recognised 
in the Statement of Comprehensive Net 
Expenditure when the asset is derecognised. 
Gains are not classed as revenue.
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Valuation

After recognition, the item of Property, plant and equipment is carried at Fair Value in 
accordance with IAS16 and the current FReM. The assets are expressed at their current value at 
regular valuation or through the application of Modified Historic Cost Accounting. For assets of 
low value and/or with a useful life of 5 years or less, depreciated historic cost (DHC) is considered 
as a proxy for fair value.

Asset Class Valuation Method Valued by

Non Specialised Land & 
Buildings

Fair Value, using Existing 
Use Valuation principles

RICS Valuation Statement (UKVS) 
1.1 Professional valuation every 
5 years. Value plus indices in 
Intervening years.

Specialised Property Fair Value using Depreciated 
Replacement 
Cost principles (DRC)

RICS Valuation Statement (UKVS) 
1.1 Professional valuation every 
5 years.  Value plus indices in 
Intervening years.

Non Operational Property* Market Value Specified as Obsolete, Assets Held 
for Sale or Investment Assets. 
Professional Valuation annually.

Tenders, Ancillary Craft & 
Lightvessels

Fair Value Professional Valuation Annually

Buoys Fair Value Internally using MV of recent 
purchases, then on an annual 
basis using MV of recent 
purchases, or recognised indices, 
as appropriate.

Beacons Fair Value RICS Valuation Statement (UKVS) 
1.1 (valued at DRC if specialised 
and defined as such under the 
RICS Red Book) valuation every 
5 years, Value plus indices in 
intervening years.

Plant, Machinery & IT 
Equipment - Low Value or 
short life

Depreciated Historic Cost N/A

Plant & Machinery – Not 
included above.

Fair Value RICS Valuation Statement (UKVS) 
4.1 & 4.3 Professional valuation 
as base cost, plus indices annually 
thereafter.

Plant and Machinery at 
Lighthouses

FV using Depreciated 
Replacement Cost principles 
(DRC)

UKVS 1.1 (valued at DRC if 
specialised and defined as 
such under the RICS Red Book) 
Professional valuation every 5
years, Value plus indices in 
intervening years

*Non Operational in this context relates to property that is not required for the GLA to carry 
out its statutory function.
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Where assets are re-valued through 
professional valuation or through the use of 
indices, the accumulated depreciation at the 
date of revaluation is eliminated against the 
gross carrying amount of the asset and the 
net amount restated to the re-valued amount 
of the asset. If the assets carrying amount 
is increased as a result of revaluation, the 
increase is recognised in other comprehensive 
income and accumulated in equity in the 
Revaluation Reserve. However, the increase 
shall be recognised in the statement of 
Comprehensive Net Expenditure to the extent 
that it reverses a revaluation decrease of 
that class of asset previously recognised in 
profit and loss. If the assets carrying amount 
is decreased as a result of revaluation, the 
decrease is recognised in the statement of 
Comprehensive Net Expenditure. However, 
the decrease shall be recognised in other 
comprehensive income to the extent of any 
credit balance existing in the revaluation 
reserve. The decrease recognised in other 
comprehensive income reduces the amount 
held in the revaluation reserve in respect of 
that asset.

Depreciation is calculated on an annual 
basis and is commenced in the financial year 
after original purchase or when the asset is 
brought into use and is continued up to the 
end of the financial year in which the sale or 
disposal takes place. Assets in the course of 
construction are not depreciated.

Depreciation is charged on a straight line basis 
having regard to the estimated operating lives 
as follows: 

As part of the five year revaluation in 2017/18 
NLB worked alongside the other two GLAs 
to agree a methodology on the modern 
equivalent AtoN to be used.  For NLB this 
varied from our previous assumptions on life 
and structure types of AtoNs that have been 
updated accordingly.

e) Inventories

As per the Accounts Direction, Inventories are 
valued by using the Average Cost method.

CATEGORIES DEPRECIATION LIVES

Land and Buildings

Land Not Depreciated

Lighthouse (building 
structure)

75 to 150 years

Lighthouse 
improvement

25 years or 
remaining life if less

Buildings 50 years

CATEGORIES DEPRECIATION LIVES

Tenders & Ancillary Craft

Tender* 25 years or 
remaining life if less

Tenders (Dry Dock and Repair)

NLV PHAROS 5 years

NLV POLE STAR** 2 years or 3 years

Workboats 10 years

Buoys

Steel Buoy Bodies 50 years or 
remaining life if less

Plastic Buoys 10 years

Superstructure 5 to 15 years

Plant and Equipment

Lighthouses 15 to 25 years

Automation 
Equipment

15 to 25 years

Racons 15 to 25 years

AIS Equipment 7 years

DGPS Equipment 10 years

Depot/Workshops 10 to 25 years

Office Equipment 10 years

Vehicles 5 to 15 years

Computers - major 
systems

5 years

Computers - other 3 years

* Tenders held under finance leases are depreciated over 25 years, being the 
expected useful life. The primary lease period is less than this but a secondary 
period sufficient to cover the balance is available.

** Depending on Dry Docking Schedule.
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f) Research and Development 

Research and Development work is co-
ordinated by the Radio Navigation Committee 
for Major Research and Development. Direct 
expenditure incurred via this channel or any 
other research and development activity is 
charged to the Statement of Comprehensive 
Net Income in Trinity House’s Report and 
Accounts as expenditure on behalf of all GLAs.

g) Leasing Commitments

Assets obtained under finance leases are 
capitalised in the Statement of Financial 
Position and depreciated as if owned. The 
interest element of the rental obligation is 
charged to the Statement of Consolidated 
Income over the period of the lease and 
represents a constant proportion of the 
balance of capital repayments outstanding 
at the beginning of the year. The capital 
element of the future lease payments is stated 
separately under Payables, both within one 
year and over one year. Expenditure incurred 
in respect of operating leases is charged to the 
Statement of Consolidated Income as incurred. 
Rentals received under operating leases are 
credited to income.

h) Foreign Currency Transactions

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 
foreign currencies are translated at the rate of 
exchange ruling at the reporting date.

i) Taxation

The fund is exempt from Corporation Tax 
under provisions of Section 221 of the 
Merchant Shipping Act 1995. The GLAs are 
liable to account for VAT on charges rendered 
for services and are able to reclaim VAT on all 
costs under the provisions of the Value Added 
Tax Act 1983.

j) Provisions

Provisions are made for liabilities and 
charges in accordance with IAS 37 Provisions, 
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets 
where, at the reporting date, a legal or 
constructive liability (i.e. a present obligation 
from a past event) exists, the transfer 
of economic benefits is probable and a 
reasonable estimate can be made.

k) Government Grants

Government Grants are recognised in full in 
the Statement of Comprehensive Net
Expenditure in the year in which they are 
received.

l) Investment Properties

The GLAs hold a small number of properties 
that are considered surplus to requirements 
and are currently held for their income 
generation potential. It has been agreed that 
this alternative use is in the best interests of 
the GLAs and the General Lighthouse Fund. 
These properties are treated in accordance 
with IAS 40: Accounting for Investment 
Properties and are accordingly valued to open 
market value each year.

m) Investments

Investments are stated at market value at the 
reporting date.

n) Financial Assets and Liabilities

Financial instruments are contractual 
arrangements that give rise to a financial asset 
of one entity and a financial liability or equity 
instrument of another entity. Financial assets 
are typically cash or rights to receive cash or 
equity instruments in another entity. Financial 
liabilities are typically obligations to transfer 
cash. A contractual right to exchange financial 
assets or liabilities with other entities will 
also be a financial asset or liability, depending 
on whether the conditions are potentially 
favourable or adverse to the reporting entity.

Financial Assets
The GLF classifies its financial assets as loans 
and receivables. Loans and receivables are 
non derivative financial assets with fixed 
or determinable payments that are not 
quoted in an active market and which are not 
classified as available-for sale. Such assets 
are initially recognised at fair value. Where 
material, they are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest 
method. The financial assets contained within 
the investment portfolio are classified as 
“Available for Sale Financial Assets”, as such 
they are carried at fair value subsequent to 
initial recognition, unrealised gains and losses 
are deferred in reserves until they are realised 
or impairment occurs.
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Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities are recognised initially at 
fair value and are subsequently measured 
at amortised cost. Financial liabilities are 
derecognised when extinguished.

Embedded Derivatives
Some hybrid contracts contain both a 
derivative and a non-derivative component. 
In such cases, the derivative component is 
termed an embedded derivative. Where 
the economic characteristics and risks of 
the embedded derivatives are not closely 
related to those of the host contract, and 
the host contract itself is not carried at fair 
value through profit or loss, the embedded 
derivative is split out and reported at fair value 
with gains and losses being recognised in the 
Income and Expenditure Account. A review 
of all GLA contracts has determined that, as 
at 31 March 2018, no contracts contained 
embedded derivatives.

Determining Fair Value
Fair value is defined as the amount for which 
an asset is settled or a liability extinguished, 
between knowledgeable parties, in an arm’s 
length transaction. This is generally taken 
to be the transaction value, unless, where 
material, the fair value needs to reflect the 
time value of money, in which case the fair 
value would be calculated from discounted 
cash flows.

o) New Standards and Interpretations 
Adopted Early

The GLF has chosen not to adopt early any 
new standards or interpretations.

p) New Standards and Interpretations 
Adopted

The following accounting standards and 
amendments to accounting standards have 
been adopted for the first time for the 
financial year beginning on 1 April 2015: IFRS 
13 provides consistent guidance on the fair 
value measurement for all relevant balances 
and transactions covered by IFRS. Although 
IFRS 13 is applied without adaptation, IAS 16 
and IAS 38 have been adapted and interpreted 
for the public sector context limiting the 
circumstances in which valuation is prepared 
under IFRS 13. The FReM adopts IAS 16 and 
IAS 38 with the effect that assets held for 
service potential are valued on an existing use 
basis.

q) New Standards and Interpretations not 
yet adopted

There are a number of new standards, 
amendments to standards and interpretations 
are not yet effective for the year ended 31 
March 2018, and have not been applied in 
these financial statements. The following new 
standards may affect the accounts if they are 
adopted by the FReM:

IFRS 9 addresses classification, measurement 
and impairment of financial assets and is still 
subject to analysis and consideration by HM 
Treasury with a view to include in the 2018 to 
2019 FReM. It is thought that IFRS 9 will result 
in terminology changes only.

IFRS 15 covers the recognition of revenues 
from contracts with customers. The impact on 
NLB is deemed immaterial based on historical 
evidence of little to no doubtful/bad debt.

IFRS 16 provides a single lessee accounting 
model, requiring lessees to recognise assets 
and liabilities for all leases unless the lease 
term is 12 months or less or the underlying 
asset has a low value. The probable impact is 
that leases currently categorised as operating 
leases will require the full value of the asset 
and liability to be included in the Financial 
Statements. The value of the associated lease 
liability is currently disclosed in Note 19.

r) Income

In accordance with the Merchant Shipping Act 
1995, the GLAs are permitted to sell surplus 
capacity. Income from these activities is 
recognised in the period to which it relates. 
The principal source of income for the GLF is 
Light Dues, a tax on ships entering the UK or 
the Republic of Ireland, in addition to RoI light 
Dues the GLF receives a contribution form the 
Irish Government towards the work of Irish 
Lights in the Republic.

s) Estimates

Where the accounts contain material 
estimates, e.g. depreciation and asset 
revaluations, an Actuary or Qualified Valuer is 
employed.
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t) Prior Year Adjustment

During 2017/18 it became apparent that the holiday pay provision was not fully accounted for in 2016/17 
resulting in a £257k restatement to 2016/17 accounts.  The total 2016/17 restated holiday pay accrual 
amounted to £331k in comparison to £339k in 2017/18.  

Within Note 19.1 Operating Leases a restatement to the helicopter lease within ‘other’ to show the seven 
year obligation whereas in previous years this was showing the potential ten year term which the lease has 
the ability to be extended to.

2. Other Income

2017/18                                
£000’s

2016/17                                
£000’s

Buoy Rental 276 339
Property Rental 15 19
Other Commercial Income 50 32
Ship Hire 845 867
Use of berth at NLB Oban 82 103
Sundry Receipts 234 77
Scottish Government Grant 46 42
Total 1,548 1,479

3. Staff Numbers and Related Costs

2017/18 2016/17 Restated 
2016/17

Total Total Total
£000’s £000’s £000’s

Wages and salaries 7,296 7,313 7,570
Social security costs 737 787 787
Sub-Total 8,033 8,100 8,357
PCSPS Pension Contribution 1,333 1,349 1,349
Other Contributions 15 55 55
Release of MNOPF provision 0 (1,353) (1,353)
Redundancy costs 167 268 268
Total Costs 9,548 8,420 8,677

Pension Commitments can found at Note 20 and the Release of the MNOPF can be found at Note 17.
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4 Other expenditure

2017/18 2016/17
£000’s £000’s

Running Costs 5,670 6,603
(Gain)/Loss on sale, disposal of property, plant and equipment 258 54
Bad Debt 1 0
Rentals under operating leases 1,459 1,441
Total 7,388 8,098

4(a) Net expenditure on behalf of all General Lighthouse Authorities

2017/18 2016/17
£000’s £000’s

Legal fees for the collection of light dues 3 3
Total 3 3

5. Interest receiveable

2017/18 2016/17
£000’s £000’s

Bank deposits 0 1
Total 0 1

6. Interest payable

2017/18 2016/17
£000’s £000’s

On lease of NLV Pole Star 140 161
On lease of NLV Pharos 222 274
Total 362 435

7. Impairments

Following the revaluation of property, plant and equipment to Fair Value there are no Impairments to as-
sets however there is a gain on revaluation of £249,851 (2016/17: £94,071 loss) which has been charged to 
the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure.
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56 Following the reclassification of the Board as a Central Government Body, the Department for 
Transport issued a new Accounts Direction in February 2013, requiring that Property Plant and 
Equipment is valued at Fair Value as per IAS16 and the Government Financial Reporting Manual 
(FReM). As a result the Board has carried out an extensive exercise to obtain valuations for all 
items of Property Plant and Equipment on the basis outlined in note 1 (e). As part of this exercise 
professional valuations as at 31 March 2018, were obtained from DVS Property Specialists and 
Braemar Seascope Valuations Limited. The work by DVS Property Specialists was co-ordinated and 
managed by Stephen Jones MRICS.

Asset Organisation
Land & Buildings; Oban; Lighthouses; Plant and 
Machinery, Investment Assets

DVS Property Specialists

Ships Braemar Seascope Valuations Limited

These valuations have been undertaken for capital accounting purposes in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as interpreted and applied by current HM Treasury 
guidance to the United Kingdom public sector. The valuations accord with the requirements of the 
Royal Institution of Charted Surveyors (RICS) – Professional Standards (known as the Red Book) 
insofar as these are consistent with IFRS and Treasury guidance.

Navigation Buoys were valued internally by Board staff based on evidence of recent purchases, and 
taking into account the age of the asset.

Summary of the 2017/18 Revaluation is set out below:

£000’s
Gains  on Property, Plant & Equipment to SoCNI (250)
Reval Gains on Property, Plant & Equipment to reserves (31,153)
Reval Losses on Property, Plant & Equipment to reserves 15,085

(16,318)

Revaluation Movements
Revaluation movement cost (11,480)
Revaluation movement cost accumulated depreciation (4,838)

(16,318)

9. Investment assets

2017/18 2016/17
£000’s £000’s

Holiday cottages
As at 1 April 665 165
Transfers to assets held for sale 0 0
Revaluations 5 500
As at 31 March 670 665

2016/17 revaluation related to reclassification of Rinns of Islay non-operational assets as investment 
assets.  Investment assets are revalued by DVS Property Specialists on a market value basis each 
year.
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10. Intangible assets

2017/18 2016/17
£0 £0

Cost
At 1 April 828 828
Disposals (364) 0
At 31 March 464 828

Amortisation
At 1 April 755 690
Charged in year 40 65
Disposals (364) 0
At 31 March 431 755
Net book value at 31 March 33 73

11. Non-current trade and other receiveables

2017/18                    
£000

2016/17                    
£000

Amounts falling due after more than one year:
Prepayments and accrued Income 10 3
Total 10 3

12. Assets classified as held for sale

There were no assets held for sale as at 31 March 2018 (£0 - 2017).

13. Inventories

2017/18 2016/17
£000’s £000’s

Mooring Chain 462 537
Base Stores 125 123
Workshop Stores 86 81
Fuel Oil 133 61
Total 806 803



Page 71

14. Trade receiveable and other current assets

2017/18 2016/17
£000’s £000’s

Amounts falling due within one year:
Trade receivables 202 211
Deposits and advances 12 17
Owed from Trinity House 14 2
Owed from Commissioners of Irish Lights 61 71
Prepayments and accrued Income 128 153
Net VAT Recoverable 332 437
Total 750 891

15. Cash

2017/18 2016/17
£000’s £000’s

Balance at 1 April 273 290
Net change in cash balances 465 (17)
Balance at 31 March 738 273

The following balances at 31 March were held at:
Commercial banks and cash in hand 738 273
Balance at 31 March 738 273

16. Trade payable and other current liabilities

2017/18 2016/17 Restated 
2016/17

£000’s £000’s £000’s
Amounts falling due within one year
Other taxation and social security 203 0 0
Trade payables 1,084 1,416 1,416
Accruals and deferred Income 1,070 1,047 1,305
Accruals for Trinity House (38) (78) (78)
Accruals for Commissioners of Irish Lights (6) (33) (33)
Current part of finance leases 1,824 1,760 1,760
Total 4,136 4,112 4,370
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17. Provision for liabilities and charges

Merchant Navy Officers' Pension Fund

The GLAs are Participating Employers of the Merchant Navy Officers Pension Fund (MNOPF) which is a defined 
benefit scheme providing benefits based on final pensionable salary which was closed on 31 March 2016. 
The MNOPF is a funded multi-employer scheme but the GLA boards are unable to identify their share of the 
underlying assets and liabilities. Formerly officers who started employment with the GLAs and were members 
of the MNOPF were given the option of continuing MNOPF membership or joining the GLA Pension Scheme. 
The assets of the scheme are held separately from the General Lighthouse Fund, being held in separate funds 
managed by trustees of the scheme.

Contributions to the scheme until its closure in March 2016 (20.0% of pensionable salaries) were charged to the 
Statement of Comprehensive Net Income when paid.

The Merchant Navy Officers Pension Fund (MNOPF) closed to future defined benefits with effect from 31 March 
2016 and a new defined contribution scheme was launched for existing members of the scheme.

The rules of the MNOPF state that Participating Employers may be called to make lump sum payments to make up 
deficits. The rules state that an employer will not be regarded as ceasing to be a Participating Employer as a result 
of ceasing to employ Active Members or other eligible employees. Historically a provision (£1.353m 2015/16) 
was held in relation to the debt which would have arisen under Section 75 of the Pensions Act 1995 when the 
last active member of the MNOPF left NLB employment however this event would no longer trigger a debt. From 
1 April 2016 NLB would only incur a Section 75 debt if we elected to withdraw from the MNOPF or the Fund is 
wound up. The opening provision of £1.353m has been released to the SoCNI in 2016/17. The contingent liability 
for a variation in the scheme valuation continues to be reported as a Contingent Liability in note 22.

Merchant Navy Ratings Pension Fund

The Merchant Navy Ratings Pension Fund (MNRPF) Trustees Limited has raised a claim in the High Court in 
England. The claim sought a ruling from the Court that introducing a new deficit contribution regime is a proper 
exercise of the Trustee powers to amend the deed and rules so that Historic Employers, i.e. those employers who 
have not been required to make deficit contributions since 2001, will be required to contribute in the future. The 
Board is a “Historic Employer” in this context.

The amendments to the Trust Deed and Rules and the New Regime, including the Implementation Methodology, 
have been approved by the Court.  The deficit as at 31 March 2017 is £240 million to be recovered by 
contributions NLB by 31 March 2024.  NLB require to make an additional contribution of £217 by 2019/20.
 
18. Capital commitments

Contracted capital commitments as at 31 March not otherwise included in these financial statements

2017/18 2016/17
£000’s £000’s

Property, plant and equipment 340 471
Intangible assets 0 13
Total 340 484
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19. Commitments under leases

19.1 Operating leases
2017/18 2016/17 2016/17 

Restated
£000’s £000’s £000’s

Obligations under operating leases comprise:
Land
Not later than one year 10 9 9
Later than one year and not later than five years 38 37 37
Later than five years 14 23 23

Buildings
Not later than one year 29 29 29
Later than one year and not later than five years 73 81 81
Later than five years 86 103 103

Other:
Not later than one year 1,491 1,498 1,476
Later than one year and not later than five years 5,666 6,354 6,225
Later than five years 0 3,910 1,072

During 2015/16 NLB commenced a seven year contract with PDG helicopters for tri-GLA helicopter  
provision with an option to extend the contract by a further three years.  Restated 2016/17 to reflect 
the actual commitments falling due in ‘Other’. A restatement was required to correct the term of 
commitment as 2016/17 was reporting the extended lease term of ten years, whereas, the contract 
is only for seven years.   

19.2 Finance leases

2017/18 2016/17
£000’s £000’s

Obligations under finance leases comprise:
Other
Not later than one year 2,144 2,144
Later than one year and not later than five years 7,018 8,577
Later than five years 1,170 1,755

10,332 12,476
Less interest element (978) (1,363)

9,354 11,113
Not later than one year 1,824 1,760
Later than one year and not later than five years 6,410 7,703
Later than five years 1,120 1,651

9,354 11,113
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NLV Pharos NLV Pole Star
Length of lease 15 years 25 years
Year commenced 2007 2000
Outstanding lease period 4 years 7 years
Frequency of payments Half-yearly in       

advance
Half-yearly in 

advance
Interest rate charged 3.62% 3.57%

The payable due under finance leases are secured on NLV PHAROS and NLV POLE STAR.

20. Pensions Commitments

PCSPS

The Principal Civil Service Pension Scheme (PCSPS) is an unfunded multi-employer defined benefit scheme but 
the Department for Transport is unable to identify its share of the underlying liabilities. A full actuarial valuation 
was carried out as at 31 March 2012. Details can be found in the resource accounts of the Cabinet Office: Civil 
Superannuation (www.civil service-pensions.gov.uk).

For 2017/18, employers’ contributions of £1,332,365 were payable to the PCSPS (2016/17 £1,349,016) at one 
of four rates in the range of 20% to 24.5% (2016/17: 20% to 24.5%) of pensionable pay based on salary bands.  
The scheme’s Actuary reviews employer contributions every four years following a full scheme valuation. The 
contribution rates are set to meet the cost of the benefits accruing during 2017/18 to be paid when the member 
retires and not the benefits paid during this period to existing pensioners.
 
Partnership Pension Accounts

Employees can opt to open a partnership pension account, a stakeholder pension with an employer 
contribution. Employers’ contributions of £17,089 (2016/17: £34,504) were paid to one or more of a panel of 
three appointed stakeholder pension providers. Employer contributions are age-related and range from 9% to 
17.75% of pensionable earnings from 1 October 2016. Employers also match employee contributions up to 3% of 
pensionable pay.

Contributions due to the partnership pension providers at the reporting period date were £nil (2016/17: £nil) 
Contributions prepaid at that date were £nil (2016/17 £nil).

In addition, employer contributions of £747, 0.5% (2016/17: £800, 0.5%) of pensionable pay, were payable to the 
PCSPS to cover the cost of the future provision of lump sum benefits on death in service and ill health retirement 
of these employees.

There were 2 reported early retirements as a result of ill-health in 2017/18 (2016/17:2). 

The remaining balance of £nil (2016/17: £nil) relates to other pension schemes operated by the arm's length 
bodies which are consolidated into these accounts.

The following has been provided in accordance with the International Accounting Standard IAS 19
(R) - Employee Benefits.

Ensign Retirement Plan (for the MNOPF)

On 1 April 2016 the Ensign Retirement Plan was created to replace the previous defined benefit Merchant Navy 
Officers Pension Fund. During 2017/18 contributions of £11,978 (2016/17: £12,168) were made relating to 1 
member (2016/17: 1 member).  From 1 April 2018 the Ensign Retirement Plan (for the MNOPF) will become part of 
the Ensign Retirement Plan.
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Merchant Navy Ratings Pension Fund

Contributions to the MNRPF in 2017/18 of £nil (2016/17: £nil).

21. Other financial commitments
 

There are no other financial commitments.

22. Contingent liabilities
 
Employers’ liabilities

Prior to 20 February 1988, NLB was self-insured for Employers’ Liability risks under a Certificate of 
Exemption from the Board of Trade. Marine staff have been covered since 1965 under P&I insurance. 
Therefore, should a claim materialise (and liability/causation be established), there may be a period 
for which Northern Lighthouse Board is responsible in damages and costs as part of any settlement 
agreed.
 
Employees who may have reason to claim are ageing which may cause ailments to be identified 
however a number of employees from this period have not presented health issues. Once all the staff 
employed during this self-insurance period have died our risk will end.

Merchant Navy Officers’ Pension Fund

A new actuarial valuation was carried out as at 31 March 2015 which reported a deficit of £320m, the 
MNOPF had improved sufficiently and that a new funding call from contributing employers would not 
be required in respect of the 2015 valuation. Any funding liability will be restricted to the additional 
deficit contributions that cannot be recovered from other employers (e.g. liquidated companies, etc).  
The Board does not have reliable estimates of this liability and have therefore made no provision, but 
declare it as a contingent liability.

Merchant Navy Ratings Pension Fund

An actuarial valuation was carried out as at 31 March 2014 which reported a deficit of £325m. 
Contributions have been agreed recover this deficit but should other employers fail to meet 
their obligations to pay their deficit contributions there may be a call the remaining employers to 
contribute the defaulting employers share.

23. Related party transactions
 
The General Lighthouse Fund is administered by the Department for Transport who sponsor the 
three General Lighthouse Authorities. For this purpose each is considered to be a Non Departmental 
Public Body (NDPB). The Authorities and the Department for Transport are regarded to be related 
parties. During the year there have been various material transactions between the Fund and the 
Authorities.

2017/18 2016/17
£000’s £000’s

Advances from the General Lighthouse Fund 20,717 21,650
Expenditure for all GLAs 3 3

Neither the Secretary of State for Transport, any key officials with responsibilities for the Fund or any 
of the Authorities board members, key managerial staff or other related parties has undertaken any 
material transactions with the Fund during the year.
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The North Ronaldsay Trust - Charity Number SCO30545

The North Ronaldsay Trust is a company limited by guarantee and registered in Scotland. The Trust has been 
established to promote the island and, in particular, the built and natural heritage. The Trust has six nominated 
members including the Northern Lighthouse Board. The Board’s liability to the Trust is limited to £1. There have 
been no transactions in the financial year between the Board and the Trust and there are no outstanding balances 
as at 31 March 2018.

Scotland’s Lighthouse Museum Ltd - Charity Number SCO23118

Scotland’s Lighthouse Museum (SLM) Ltd is a registered charity whose primary purpose is to advance and 
promote the education of the general public, to establish and preserve a Museum of the history and operation 
of lighthouses in Scotland and to aid their physical preservation. The Director of Engineering was as SLM 
Board Member until September 2016 and was succeeded by the Chief Executive. There have been no financial 
transactions in the financial year. There are no outstanding balances as at 31 March 2018.

James Coats, Junior, “Ferguslie” Paisley Memorial Fund (formerly referred to as the Black Bequest)
- Charity Number SCO09568

The James Coats, Junior, “Ferguslie” Paisley Memorial Fund is a registered charity whose primary purpose is 
to provide support to former lighthouse keepers and their dependants. The Trustees are the Chairman, Vice-
Chairman and Chief Executive. There have been no transactions in the financial year between the Board and the 
Fund and there are no outstanding balances as at 31 March 2018.

The Commissioners of Northern Lighthouses 2000 Trust - Charity Number SCO32089

The Commissioners of Northern Lighthouses 2000 Trust was a registered charity whose primary purpose was to 
provide support to Merchant Navy Officer Cadets. The Trustees were the Chief Executive, Director of Finance and 
one Commissioner. The trust was closed on the 30th September 2017.

The Northern Lighthouse Heritage Trust - Charity Number SCO40872

The Northern Lighthouse Heritage Trust is a registered charity whose primary purpose is to support the 
preservation and conservation of lighthouse heritage.  During the year the Heritage Trust funded the creation of 
a Heritage space within the Stevenson Rooms.   A total of £110 was transferred in 2017/2018 for the sale of books 
and prints sold by the Northern Lighthouse Board on behalf the Heritage Trust

24. Third party assets
 
There are other assets held by the Board on behalf of the Commissioners. These assets are a collection of 
furniture, maps, and paintings and do not form part of the General Lighthouse Fund.

31 March 2018 31 March 2017
£000’s £000’s

Value of the heritage collection 228 228
Cash and investments 9 13
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25. Financial instruments    

IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation requires disclosure of the role which financial instruments 
have had during the year in creating or changing the risks the Board faces in undertaking its 
activities. Because of the largely non-trading nature of its activities and the method of funding by 
the General Lighthouse Fund, the Board is not exposed to the degree of financial risk faced by other 
business entities. The Board has borrowing powers under the Merchant Shipping Act 1995 but very 
limited powers to invest surplus funds.

As permitted by IAS 32, debtors and creditors which mature or become payable within 12 months 
from the Statement of Financial Position date have been omitted from the profile.
 
Liquidity risk

The Board relies primarily on advances from the General Lighthouse Fund for its cash requirements 
and is therefore not exposed to significant liquidity risks although it is dependent on the liquidity of 
the General Lighthouse Fund.

Interest rate risk

There is an exposure on the leases to a change in the main rate of Corporation Tax. During the 
setting up of the finance lease for NLV POLE STAR, the Board evaluated the option of eliminating this 
exposure. However, it was found that the financial risks were not significant.

The Board holds working funds in a Money Market Account and is therefore exposed to interest rate 
fluctuations. However, the balance is managed to ensure that it is maintained at a minimum to meet 
forecast short-term cash requirements.

Currency risks

The Board has no significant foreign currency transactions and is not therefore exposed to significant 
currency risks, in our normal operations. However the decision to leave the European Union has 
created a potential risk which NLB continues to monitor.

Fair values

There is no difference between the book values and the fair values of the Board’s financial assets and 
liabilities as at 31 March 2018.

26. Inter-GLA ships transactions
 
The Board provided the services of NLV POLE STAR during the year to the other GLAs under the 
terms of the inter-GLA Ship Agreement. While there would be no transfer of funds between the GLAs 
in respect of this service, these transactions would give rise to notional expenditure and income 
quantified in the table below.

2017/18 2016/17
£000’s £000’s

Notional income - Trinity House 77 66
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27. Prior period adjustments
 
During 2017/18 it became apparent that the holiday pay provision was not fully accounted for in 2016/17 resulting 
in a £257k restatement to 2016/17 accounts.  The total 2016/17 holiday pay accrual amounted to £331k in 
comparison to £339k in 2017/18.  

Within Note 19.1 Operating Leases a restatement to the helicopter lease within ‘other’ to show the seven year 
obligation whereas in previous years this was showing the potential ten year term which the lease has the ability 
to be extended too

Account Area Reported Restatement Restated

31 March 2017 31 March 2017 31 March 2017
£000’s £000’s £000’s

Wages and Salaries 7,313 7,570 257
Accruals and Deferred Income 1,047 1,305 257

28. Events after reporting period
 
There are no events after the reporting period requiring disclosure.
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31 March 2018 31 March 2017
Lighthouses (including one station providing radio/electric 
navaids only)

206 206

Buoys 204 204
Unlit beacons 23 23
Buoyant beacons 0 0
Tenders 2 2

Number of non-current assets deployed
31 March 2018 31 March 2017

Lighthouses (including one station providing radio/electric 
navaids only)

206 206

Buoys 170 167
Unlit beacons 23 23
Buoyant beacons 0 0
Tenders 2 2

Changes to buoys due to new buoy station at South Carr and two new seasonal buoys in Oban Bay.

Aids to Navigation for which the Board has responsibility as a General Lighthouse Authority as at 31 
March 2018.

Analysed by Category
No Monitored Cat 1 Cat 2 Cat 3

Lights - over 15 nautical mile range 66 66 64 2 0
Lights - less than 15 nautical miles range 140 30 72 68 0
Total Lights 206 196 136 70 0
Buoys - Lit 170 6 50 89 31
Beacons 23 0 0 0 23
DGPS stations 4 4 4 0 0
RACON on lighthouses 22 22 22 0 0
RACON on buoys 7 0 7 0 0
AIS Units - Lights 26 27 0 0 26
AIS Units - Buoys 20 19 0 0 20
Virtual AIS 4 1 0 0 4
Total 481 275 219 159 103

Note:  Number of stations with more than 
one RACON

3 Hyskeir, Skerryvore and Sule Skerry

CONTRACT
Lights 2 plus 2 in Norwegian waters
Buoys 104

Fog Signals 0
RACON stations 3 plus 2 in Norwegian waters
Total 109
LOCAL AUTHORITY
Light stations 1,106
Buoys stations 740
Total 1,846

Annex 1 - Further information
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AIS Automatic Identification System
AtoN Aids to Navigation

CPI Consumer Price Index

DfT Department for Transport (UK)
DGPS Differential Global Positioning System
DTTAS Department of Transport, Tourism and 

Sport

ELoran Enhanced Long Range Navigation

FTE Full Time Equivalent

GDP Gross Domestic Product
GLA General Lighthouse Authorities
GLF General Lighthouse Fund
GNSS Global Navigation Satellite System
GPS Global Positioning System (USA)

IALA International Association of Marine Aids 
to Navigation & Lighthouse Authorities 

ICT Information and Communications 
Technology

IHO International Hydrographic Office
IL Commissioners of Irish Lights IMO 

International Maritime Organization

JSB Joint Strategic Board
JNPR Joint Navigation Policy Requirement

LED Light Emitting Diode
LIDAR Technology that measures distance by 

laser
LLA Local Lighthouse Authorities

MAIB Marine Accident Investigation Branch
MCA Maritime and Coastguard Agency
MNOPF Merchant Navy Officers' Pension Fund
MTBF Mean Time between Failures
MTTR Mean Time to Repair
MOU Memorandum of Understanding

NDPB Non Departmental Public Body
NLB Northern Lighthouse Board

ONS Operations and Navigation Services

PCSPS Principal Civil Service Pension Scheme

Annex 2 - Stakeholder Acronyms

R&RNav Research and Radio Navigation 
Directorate 

RCM Reliability Centred Maintenance
RLK Retained Lighthouse Keeper
RNLI Royal National Lifeboat Institution
RYA The Royal Yatching Association
SAR Search & Rescue
SEPA Scottish Environment Protection Agency
SNH Scottish Natural Heritage
SOLAS International Convention for Safety of 

Life at Sea (IMO) 
SOS REP Secretary of State for Scotland 

Representative
SSSI Site of Special Scientific Interest
SWAN Scottish Wide Area Network

TH Trinity House
TUDS Tender Utilisation Database System

UKHD United Kingdom Hydrographic Office
 

SWAN Scottish Wide Area Network

TH Trinity House
TUDS Tender Utilisation Database System

UKHD United Kingdom Hydrographic Office
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MarineServices

"In Salutem Omnium"
For the Safety of All

Over 200 years of service to the mariner
In the Northern Lighthouse Board the provision of reliable, cost effective and 
efficient aids to navigation is our core business.  Our skills in this vital field 
have been built up over 2000 years of service to the mariner in the harshest of 
marine environments.  Our equipment, and the service we provide, has to work - 
navigational safety depends upon it.  Accredited to ISO9001 and ISM certified, we 
are proud to offer this level of service and reassurance to our customers.

Vessel Services
Equipped to levels normally only found in much larger vessels, NLV PHAROS and 
NLV POLE STAR provide versatile platforms for research, sea trials, hydrographic 
surveying and other marine support services.

Aids to Navigation provision, maintenance and servicing
Our commerical AtoN services include provision of temporary or permanent 
AtoNs, deployment or removal, solarisation, maintenance servicing and 
refurbishment.  Whether marking a port approach, marine renewable energy sites 
or a decommissioned oil rig, we can design a solution to suit.

Professional Advisory Services
The Northern Lighthouse Board provides innovative solutions in the areas of 
marking of decommissioned oil & Gas installations, solarisation in extreme  
climates and littoral engineering solutions.

Marine Base Support
NLB Oban offers full marine base support facilities including berthing services, 
ultra high pressure washing, paint spray booth, electrical & electronic testing and 
engineering support.

Whatever your aids to navigation needs, we can help - we know the environment, 
understand your requirements and will work with you to provide the best possible 
solution.

It's our core business - let our innovative and dependable solutions help 
you to concentrate on yours.

Northern Lighthouse Board, 84 George Street, Edinburgh EH2 3DA
Telephone: +44(0) 131 473 3100 Fax: +44 (0) 131 220 2093

E-mail:  enquiries@nlb.org.uk    www.nlb.org.uk

More than Lighthouses
www.nlb.org.uk


